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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Strategic Report for the period ended 31 March 2023

In this report the Group’’ means Tilia Group Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries and the Company means
Til a Group Holdings Limited.

There are two trading businesses that form the Group. Tmlia Homes Limited ( ‘‘Til a 1-lomes’ ) and Hopkins Homes
Group Limited ( Hopkins Homes ). In May 202 I. Tilia Bidco Limited, a directly owned subsidiary of the
Company ac quired I OOVr of the issued share capital of the Kier Living ‘Group’ ( renamed ‘‘Tilia Homes’’). an
established multi region residential househuilder. In January 2022, Til ia B idCo Limited acquired Hopkins Homes
Group Limited, the largest privately—owned househui der in East Anglia which is the second main trading business
within the Group.

The directors present their strategic report for the period ended 31 March 2023. The Group and Company’s
accounting year end has been changed to March therefore the current accounting period was shortened to 31
March 2023 (nine months). The prior year comparative is year ended 30 June 2022 (twelve months).

Principal aclivilies

The Grotip is principally engaged in the building and sale of residential properties iii the United Kingdom.

Business model and strategy
Our business is based solely on the building and sale of residential properties, currently in England. excluding
London and the South East. Tilia Homes currently operate our regional businesses iii Northern, Central, Eastern
and the West of England. Til ia Homes also operates through several joint enttncs. with partners including Cross
Keys Homes and Homes England. The Cross Keys oint venture has been the subtect uI a non—adjusting post
balance sheet event, see note 30 for further information. Hopkins Hoittes operates in Last Anglia.

Business Review

Tilia Homes

Following the acquisition of the business on 28 May 202 by Terra Firma, a leading Private Equity investment
firm, the business undertook a root and branch transtormation of iLs operations. This inclrided. hut was not limited
to. a significant change in key personnel, an overhaul of operational practices. implementation of new systems.
and injections of capital to pursue new land acquisitions. This is a multi—year transformation. aimed at creating a
scaled business delivering quality new homes to our customers. and that process of change has continued in the
ii ne—month period.

Tilia Homes’ ambition is to forge a reputation for delivering high quality, well—designed and affordable mid—
market homes for families and first—time buyers. T ha will target increasing the scale of its landhank. focusing on
gro th and on creating new neighhourhoods that communities can he proud of br many years to come.

Ii ha’ s longer—term strategic vision continties to be determined by focusing on a number of key principles. These
include:

• Always safety first— we are proud of our continued strong health and safety statistics bitt remain fully

aware that this has to he a daily priority e’ crywhere We operate. We communicate regularly to staff’ and

contractors on this topic and contintie to invest in Health and Safety training. We svi II not accept

complacency in this area and it will always remain our first priority.

• Being a househui Ider of first choice or our customers and our suppliers — a focus on quality is critical
and we intend to become an HBF five star rated househtnlder. We aim to build homes of the highest
standard and have introduced new house types aimed at ensuring consistency uid quality. whilst also
respecting and protecting the unique character of the locd uca.

2



Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Strategic Report for the period ended 31 March 2023 (continued)

• Being an employer of first choice — we firmly believe in the importance and power o[ committed.
motivated. high—quality staff. With the growth targeted over the long—tcini. and an focus on training and
deelopment for staff, we believe we can provide the challenge and opportunity tor 0111 staff making us
an en plo er of first choice.

• Del iverine a step—change in sustai nahility — we rec ign isc thc importance ol en\ ironniental and social
responsihi litv and of being the most snstai nable business possible. The oil—going development of our
isew house—types is firmly focused on titiproving our en’ uoninental footprint. We are developing a
considerably wider—ranging ESG strateg s ith the lull support and encouragertient ot Terra Firusa. and
are determined to leLtd the way in this I ield,

The continued degree r,f chance w ithin the business. w I th a focus on itsiproving siandards and quali i\ ci inshi ned
wuh a reduction in consumer conftoence and a corresponding slowdist a in market demand. has resulted in a
relatively low—leel ot completed units in the nine—month period ended 31 March 2023. dri’ ing a loss helore tax
sf £3{).6m t2t)22: £6.Om lossi. Adjusting for intra—croup iteiiis of finance costs. provision for inspairmeisi of

i nterci impanv and ad isor\ fees. Tilia Homes contributed a reduced loss before tax of £ 14 2m towards the Group
result. This loss ineluded taking one—otf proviions (sf £l.5ni in relation to ihe costs associated with fire
retnediatton liabilities, and with geaing legacy sites fully adopted h\ local authorities and remisving ftiture
responsibility and liahilit\ i’or maistenance.

During the ear the hoard has further de’eloped and continues to implement plans iii opcrauonallv strengthen the
hasiness. The primar\ focus has been in the construction and commercial opcratiisus of the husiness. with a
siguitieant change in personnel, who aspire to improve the quality and effieieoc) of our build process. whilst
hiulding stronger relationships with otir materials and sub—contractor suppliers Not only will this drive tinselv
dehiser of a better quality product but will also ensure we ate managioc costs tighily and delivering targeted
margins. This is a continuat:oii of the mtilti—’ear transformation initiated in the piioi vear

Lu the pre bus ‘ear management implemented a new ERP system: Cf ) [ NS Cf ) INS is the ER P system of choice
or most housebrulders tsf an\ size and allows ftill and joined up granuiluii> of build prograuimttes. costs to

complete, and Luid appraisals. The fiar core modules hae now been successftill ioijsleotented. namely Finance,
Comnmeiei:il, Sales and Construction. With the core modules now tiperaisiiuil. ne” pm occsses and wa\ of ss irking
are now in place and being embedded within the business. This “ill matcriall’ improse the efficienc and
effectiveness ot the business, driving rip build rates and tkwn build cost. in addinon. Tilia “ill iitiplemttent misc
Land Appraisa Cf )[NS module. The company is also in tite process of inplementing a nev CR,\1 s stein which
“ill sign:l’icaiirl improve our abilit to nianace the end—to—end etistomci path, improving the espet ience lor
customers and enabling an increase iii conversion.

Investment in land will help drive the business lorward and the land teanss hac a clcar strategy in place to ensure
we secure the right opportunities. at the right price, and commeilce new de’elopincnt in the right way. with the
backing of r,tir owners. Due to the weakness in the cisusunler nsarketplace in the pasi sine months. Tilia has
purposelully slowed down its land acquisition aetivtiy. to enstire we are comfortable ith land values and future
returns. With more recent stability the business is now illorc actively back in the land market and looking us insest,
In the nine—month period ended 31 March 2023 Tilia Homes Limited completed the purchase sf2 new sites (2022:
4). spending £24, I mis (2022: £35.3 ns) which has been funded by the Conspan’ ‘S ins mcrliate parent.

Health and sal’ety rensamns the number one priority at Ti I ia and we achie ed an Al R (Ace dent Incident Rate) of
71 at March 2023 (191 as at Jtine 2022). signil’icantly below the HSE anti HBF annualised benchmarks of 239 and
326 respectively.

The poor income statement performance mIsts year is partly a ftinction of the titarket dowisturn. an inspact we
consider to he relatively short—term in duration. I-hssvever much of the perhininance isarestilt of the
transformational change that the business has undergone. and this change ss ill prepare the business for future
growth and stmecess. Much titise. and effort has beets spent on dealing with legacy issues. and the prtn isions taken
at year end are a function of that. Equally. significant focus has beets put on rightsiz.ing the htmsiness and improving
the calibre and capability of staff. Such a process is time consuming and disrtmptive. hut the focus is now on
improving the business, and making the most of the new systems and processes that have been implemented.
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Strategic Report for the period ended 31 March 2023 (continued)

Whilst further change is i ne’. itahie. Tilia s a sign it icand\ healthier and more cap;ihle business than at the point
ot acquisition.

Tilia continues to make strategic changes to the husines ssith the aim of creating further opportunity br future
gros’.th. In April 2023, hIm concluded 11w acquisiiion ol he remaining i0 stake in our Tilia Cross Keys Dc’.
LLP rTCK’ ) joint venture owned by our partner CrOSS Keys. giving Tilia 00’% ownership and full control of
that entity. Not onl does this give the business full entitlement to all future cash Rb’.’. s and profits. hut the entity’
also has a signi I cant £0.0in debt facility. openi ne the opportunity to combine debt financing alongside equity
financing as we drive growth across the business. This occurred after the reported period and is a non-adtusting
post-balance sheet event.

Hopkins Homes

During the period demand was impacted by increasing interest rates and ccc nont ic instability. Thanks to the
resilience and hard work of everyone across the business. Hopkins Homes con tin ned to maintain strong margins
achiesing a profit before tas or the tune months of [5.9iii (2022: £10.Vnil. Adjusting for intra—group items cif

advisors fees.. Hopkins contributed £17.1tii of profii before tax towards lo the Group resuli.

Flopkmns Homes connnue to tocus hart! on delm’.crmtig a quality product to our customers. Operationall . the focus
has been on core disciplines enhancing business processes.

ftiure investment in land “ill help drive the husitiess forward and the land teams hase a clear strategy in place to
ensure we secure ihe right opportunities. at the righti price, and commence development in the right ‘.‘.ay.

Hopkins Homes achieved hi \e-star rating in the Sonic Builders Federation National new home customer
satisfaction sur’. cy year 2022/23.

Housing market

In the nine—month period ended 3 I March 2023 the UK hotising market experienced an rineertain period of
performance. The market started the period with a slower level of completions than in the past year. but still in
line with longer—terict norms. However. hollowing higher levels of political and economic uncertainty, rising
interest rates and lower mortgage availability, from late—October through to mid-January the market slowed
considerably to appiosnnately half its long—term rate of sale. Since February 2023 we hia’.e seen the market retuin
to more normal levels, ille it not to the height seen in 202 1122. Consequently. the Gi’oup has seen its own sales
completion pet tonnance drop at a similar le’.el to that seen in the wider market.

Sentiment does now seem to he impros me \\ill prerlictions o lowering Ic’els ot infia ion. siahiiistng interest
rates, and itnpro’entenis in mortgage aftordahiliis and a’ aihahili\-. The board will enstire close in;uiagemen; ol
the activities of the business and “ill ensure robust Financial controls are in place.

Environmental impact and carbon use disclosures

The Grorip identities sustainahilit’ as a frindantetital aspect to ensure the long—term success of the Group. Being
a sustainable htisines.s is more important than e’.er and \‘.e contmue in the work towards changing mindsets to
embrace sustainahilit\ so that it becomes einhc’.lclcd within e’.erv part of the htisincss. Our new standaid house
type ranec is heiig designed to further reduce our carbon fooprint and achie’.e the energy eihetency standards.
We have instructed external consultants. Energist UK. to assist tis with this. We are currently working with our
ESG partners to establish policies to ftirther dciiionstrate our comniitnient.
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Strategic Report for the period ended 31 March 2023 (continued)

\\‘e conttnue to source timber products delivered with a lull chain eustod’ from a credible, independent
certification scheme. approed by the UK Government am’ C recoi’d oar \\ase movements ia Smart” ate mnLl
are currentl’ reporting over 90R diversion rates from landtill.

In accordance tb the Companies Act 201)6 (Strategic Report and Directors Report) Regulations 201 3. we repom t
on our greenhi use gas eIYii5iOns as part of this Strateete Rcpoi t.

Our methodology has been based on the principak if the Greenhouse Gas Protocol, taking account cii the 2015
amendment wh:eh sets out a dual reporting methodolog fur the reperttn of Scope 2 emis>ions. Electricit
anti Ga’ data caine directly from the supplier for Tilta and Hopkins. No esclusions ‘ei’e made as part of this
rep rt I ng

(;reenhouse gas emissions and ititetisity ratio

Emission Type kWh Cl )e tonnes (Location Based)

Current Year Previous Year Var. (/ Current Year Previous Year Var. ‘/

(2022-23) (2021-22) (2022-23) (2021-22)
(9 tnonths) (12 months) (9 months) (12 months)

Scope I: II .478.854 7,363.245 55.9’X 2,741.13 1.720,86 595(4

Co in bris lion
Total Scope I 11.478.854 7.362.245 55.9(4 2,744.13 1,720.86 59.5(4

Scope 2: 450.523 1,177,705 -61.7(4 87.13 250.06 -65.2(4
Purchased Ene rg

Total Scope 2 450.523 1.77.705 -61.7(4 87.13 250.06 -65.2(4

Scope 3: Indirect 1.019.823 3.1136.847 -06.4’.1 253.30 721.58 6l.94
Energy rise

Total Scope 3 1.019,823 31136.847 -66.4(4 253,30 721.58 -64.9(4

Total 12,949,199 11.577.797 I iJ(4 3,084.56 2,692.50 14.6%

Current Year Prior Year Var. c

Number of employees 609 641) -4.8(4

Intensit’ Ratio (tCO2/no 5.1 4.2 —21.4(4
of einplo’ees

Itunover EOOtt5t 94,758 181.429

]niensit Ratio 0.0158 (1.0148 +6.8(4
I Ci )2e/f I 0(1.000)
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Strategic Report for the period ended 31 March 2023 (continued)

Pnnssii n Type C( )e tonnes ( Dual Reporting Methodology

Location Based Market Based Var. c’r
(Supplier Speeitiei

Scope I: Combustion 2744.13 2744.13 O.O’3-

Total Scope I 2744.13 2744.13 o.oc

Scope 2: Purehasetl Fnerg X7. 13 12.95 -$5.1

Total Scope 2 57,13 12.95 -55.1%

Scope 3: indirect Energy the 253.30 253.30

Total Scope 3 253.30 253.30 0.0%

Total 3,084.56 3,010.38 -2.4%

People

We want the Group to continue to he a great place to work with a flexible, stimulating and supportive environment
where people ted recognised and appreciated. We help our people achieve their personal and professional goals
and eneourace the next generation of talent through inici fbI career progression. The health and wellbeing of Our
people is extrenielv inportant tu us and there are initiau\es iii place to support tins.

Principal risks and uncertainties

‘I’he perlorniance oh the business is subject to seer’al risks and the management of these is a ke operating
coinponeiit oi the Group. The lore—term tt’ceNs 01 ilie huincss is impacted b the risk management approach
adopied h the Group. The Groep ha identihed. c\ iltiatcd. and nit in place strategic-. to mitigate the principal
risk. and t,ilc’crtainties faced by the husine.,s. and :lie’e are ti rinallv re’ iewed by the Board.
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Strategic Report for the period ended 31 March 2023 (continued)

The principal operating risks of the Group include, hut are not limited to. the hillowing areas:

Key risk Nature of risk Mitigation
Economic coy iron inent — Maior price or sales volume Structural market under—supply
Doss nturn in housing market reductions due to macni market lossers bug term risk. [ii short term

forces. List prices become conservative managernent.a Focus
tiflCOill1letItiS e on cash flow, and a strengthened

balance sheet ss ill help mitigate. A
• aiariaecd approach to buibdinie

plOts ii) couni WIP spend and
therefore control cash outflows is
ke The Group no in i rors available

: market pricing data to ensure it

rcillLu is LI ilipeti n Ve.
I Increase in construction costs or Materials and labour shortages. Iniira:is Cs across the Group to

reductions in availability inflation in cost prices, and iuitiga:c include: Standard hotise

understated cost Ibrecasts. t’ pc increased central
Increases in costs due to extended procurement. strengthening of the
bruld periods Coiriruercial functions, and

-
conrinried enha!tcemeut ot the Tilia
Hriiie% C( )INS ERP system.
Regular CVR meetings to review
costs to complete are integral to
controlling spend and niaximising
proitahilit.Saes prices Increases
can also mitigate cost inflation.

Land acquisition Inability to identify land Initiatives undcrssav to reduce
: opporainities or to procure at operating costs to improve land

satislactor\ margins aflbrcl:rhilitsu These iiielrrdc
increased olotting dcnsit:es.

- intrtutlocuon of standard house
, types.•ind Group hu ing t nutratus Cs

Failure to marntarn a safe ‘sorking Impact of a malor incident sin Independent team In place to
ens rrtinment start. contractors, and iepirtatisn ensure appropriate non—negotiable

health and satet policies are in
place and is ensure adherence to
them. Training and management
(lisCi1SliiiL’s strongly ent’orced

Personnel retention Staff turnover anrl inability to Remuncrarron packages arc
recruit quality personnel eontiriu:iIlv reviewed to ensure the

Group remain crimpetitis e in the
nl[irketpl.rLL. Training and
Des elrpment opportunities clearly
cciii nun i c at ed

(‘tistonier satisfaction Poor customer satisfaction Ctistomcrtriurney simplitied.
impacting reputation and ability iiipro’ ed build quality reviews

to sell heine introduced. New

Construct i on Directors driving

quality locus. New CRM system

being_implemented
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Strategic Report for the period ended 31 March 2023 (continued)

N litigation
IT environment. w it h focus on
security and fraud pres enticsn firci
Strong focus till segregation of
duties. Training in place for stalf.
Additional security Ia’ cr5 such as
two lactor authentication
flt ri duced. W hi st lehl owing

process in place
Close relationship built with HBF
and Homes England to understand
potential changes and to enable
t lie Group to escalate and

The Group have a plavhook iii

place which al low ed each business
to operate following Covid— 19
s hen we were ihl e lo cont t ntic to
build despite broader national
restrictions. This will continue to
he revieved by management
Detailed review of old proiec ts
underway to identil\ potential
risk. Provisions taken based on
likelihood and estimable ‘aloe of
liability
Performance anti lorecasts.
including projected cocnant
rectilts arc reviewed titonthlv. with
action plans w here possible,
Relationships with lenders are

pc n and support i \‘e. Opportu iii lv
to waive or atncnd facilities if
necessary has historically been
a’ ai labie
Ensure sufficient diversifications
of supply chain and continued
it’c’’ucn dialogue w ith key
su ppl let’s

Nature of risk

Risk of damage to data. svstenls,
and rcpuiaiion as a result of cyhcr—
ataicks or fraudulent activitie5

Key risk

Cyher attack and associated haud

Government I regulatory change

Business coot in tn Lv

Risk of add it i onal cosi sand
complexity arising from changes
in legislation and regulation

Disrupti’ e event impacts ability to
operate. build and sell

intl i’,ence

Claims arising in relation to
historic pre—acquisition completed
pregects

Potential financial impact if
conipaov is deemed liahle and is
required to ccli I y

JV under—deli’ er\ Under-performance in JV5 risking
default against banking covenants

\laior supplier or sub—contractor
failure, including impact of global
conflicts e.g. Ukraine)

Risk of rising costs and impacts
on suppl\ ehai ii and lead times for

oods

Failure of policies. procedures or Failure to inflow legal. The Group has implemented a
controls accounting. tax and staiutory robust control environment with

requirements could have financial, clearly artictilated policies and
operational and reputational procedures. Focus on clear
impacts accountabilities segregation tif

dat ics and rohu si cont rd res iet
give reassurance. We use external

I ad’ isors w here ret1 u i red (e.g - Tax
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Strategic Report for the period ended 31 March 2023 (continued)

Financial Reiiew

Results

* 21)23 = 9 monthc: 2022 ] 2 months

Group revenue br the nine—month period was £ I 94.xin (2022: £ IS! —(ml in Comparison to the prior •‘ear which
had twelve months of Tilia Homes trad:ng hut included oni’ iRe months or Hopkins Homes post- actjtlisI)lofl

trading. ‘!hc Group made EBITDA before excephonal Hems of £S,2rn (2022: £8.7m.

In the period the Group achieved I .203 2022: .4531 Iccal completions. The Group operates thuu!h a numhcr of
joint ‘cniurcs and of these total ants. 519 2022: 7391 were dcliered through the joint ventures,

Legal completions

Period eiided 31
jIarch 2023

No.

Period ended 3!
March 2023

£ 000

Year ended 30
June 2022

No.

Year ended 30 june
2022

£ 000

Re’ enue

_____________

194. 75 8 181,429

()per’atr ri pr’ I iit

EBITDA

Loss be I ore tax

Presemed hel’ ire exceptional items

5.607 7.052

8.225 8.685

(24.730) ( 14.032

Group companies

Joint ventures

I’otal

Other Kl’ls

684 11

5! 739

1.203 .453
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Strategic Report for the period ended 31 March 2023 (continued)

Balance sheet at 31 March 2023

The Group had net assets of £20.Oin (2022: £49.5ni ) and a cash balance of £12 .Jm (2022: £32. Inn at the ear
end.

The (ii otip S ins entory was £428.Xm (2022: £3O7Mni). The Group also holds an investment of £ I 16.Ym (2022:
£ I I 2.5oi I in joint ventures.

At 3 Slat ch 2023. the Group had net debt of £‘76.? in (2022: £430.Sni
. Loan funding i5 pro’ ided to the Group

via a £45 3.ni (2022: £42-.Ym loan twin a elated part’ Foster Ins estments Limited. The loan is repa) able on
tIe mand. however the Group and Cornpan\ ha’ e receis ed s ritten confirmation (corn Foster Ins estments Limited
that the loan will not he recalled for at least 12 months from the daie of approval of the financial statemenis. The
interest rate is 8’4 . The Group also holds an c\icrnal Resolving Credit Facility (RC’F) with a total limit of
£]20.Oni. with £ô6.Om drawn at 31 March 2023 2022: £38.Om). which expires in February 2028 with interest
rate of SONIA plus 2.5 -3 .0 ic.

Appros cii by the Board on 28 September 2023 and signed on its behalf by:

pod-

A V B Gibbs
1)1 rector
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Directors Report for the period ended 31 March 2023

The directors present their report and the audited financial statements ror the nine—month period ended 31 Nlaieh
2023. The Compan\ was incorporated in Guernsey (in 23 Mardi 2021.

Principal activities

The Company is a holding company for a house building group.

Results and dividends

The results (or the n;ne—month period ended 31 March 2023 are Se tout in the consolidated income stateiiieiit.
with the results dmcussed in the preceding Strategic Repcirt

No dis iden ii s were pan! in the period.

Directors of the Company

The directors who held i mifice during the year and up to the date ol signing these financial statements were as
!ol!oss 5:

S I B atem an t mppoi n ted I 3 Decem her 2022)
A V B Gibbs (appointed 13 December 2022)
A W Richard son (resigned 3 I May 2023)
Q ‘f Seserson (appointed 15 June 2023)

H Thompson (resigned 13 December 2022)

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and Financial Staiements in accordance tb
applicable law and regulation.

Company lass requires the directors to prepare linancial swtemllents for each tinaneial year. Under that law the
directors have prepared the group financial statements mi accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards IFRS5) as adopted by the EU and the company linancial statements tn accordance with Uutted
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accotinting Standard. comprising FRS I 1)1
‘Rcdtieed Disclosure Framework, and applicable kiss

Under eoiipan\ la5 directors must not appro\ e the It nancial statements unless they are ‘atisfied that the gi’ e a
true and lair ie’ of the ,tate ot affairs of the ororip and eompan and of the profit or loss of the group (or that
ear. In preparine the financial statement,, the directors arc requied to:

• e lect suitable accounting policies and then appl then: consistently:
• state 55 hether Ltpplicable IFRS5 as adopted by the ELt hase been follossed for the group Iinaricia

state ole n ts and Ltn ted Kingdom Accounttng Standards. comprising FRS 101 have been followed I or the
company financial statements. stmbjcct to awe iitaierial departures dbclosed and explained in the financia
state lie lit

• tiiake udgements and accotttiting estimates that are measonable and prudent: and
• prepire the financial statements on the going eotlceril basis tinless it is inappropriate to presume tl,iit the

grotip and compan\ ss tIl continue in business.

The directors are responsible for safeguarding the assets of the group and company and hence for takitig reasonable
steps for the presentton and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The direetm,rs or e also responsible for keeping adequate aceou iti Og records that are suftieient to show and explain
the grotip’ s and company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any tinie the I inaneial ptstt ion
of the group and company and enable them to enstire that the Iinaneial statements comply with (he applicable
Guernsey law.
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Directors’ Report for the period ended 31 March 2023 (continued)

Employment of disabled persons
The companies in the Group are equal opportunities employers and consider applications for employment from
disahled persons. Facilities, equipment and training are prOv (led to assist disahled etiiploy ees and, should an
employee become disabled during their employment. e fforts “mild he made to retain them in their current ole or
to explore opportunities for c—deployment in the Group.

Future developments
The Group continues to identify and insest in suitable laud lot future developments. Concurrently, we continue
to work with local housing associations to tender for suitable pr miects. The business is conscious of the es olvi ng
and ongoing sttuatton in Ltkraine but as \et is not expci’icncin an’ direct impact.

Directors liabilities

The articles of’ association of the Corpany entitle the d:i’ecto:’s of the Company. iii the extent permitted by the
appl cable Gun nsey law and other applicable legislation. to be indemnified out ol’ the assets of the Compan’ tn
the event that they suffer any expenses in connection “ith certain proceedings relating to the execution of their
duties as directors of’ the Compan.

In addition. insurance is maintained for the dirccors and officers of companies ssmihin the Group to cover cet’tan
losses or liahil ties to which they may he exposed due to their office.

Reappointment of atiditors
Under section 257 of the Companies t Guernsc f I .aw 2008. PricewatcrhottseCoopers LLP s ill be deemed to have
been reappointed as auditors 28 days after these l’inancial statements “crc sent to mcmbci s 01 28 days after the
latest date preserihed lbr tiling the accounts ith the ‘egistiar. whtehc’.er is earlier.

Dividends

There was no dividend declared for the period.

Going concern

Ihe directors adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Group’s financial statements.

The Group had net assets and cash a at 3 March 2023 of £2i).tlm and £42.Jni i’cspcctiselv. Funding to the Group
is pi’ovided in the form of’ a loan from a related pztr . Foster [ncstmcnts Limited. The principal amount of loan
outstanding at 31 Ntiich 2fl2 was f453,4m, The loan is i’epavahle on demand. howeser the Group and Ctmnipan
have rcceied written confirmation from Foster Incstments Ltittited that the loan “ill not he recalled l’or at least

12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements. The interest rate ‘n ihe loan is xc. The Group
also holds an exiernal RCF with a total limit offl 2t).t)m. with £hb.Om drasn am 31 March 2023. which expires in

February 2028 iih interest rate of SONJA plus 2.5—3.O’t.

The Board has re\ iewed the business’s cash flow forecasts for the period to 3t) September 2024. based sn certain
key assumptions which include the price and volume of completed house sales over that period and changes in

supplier purchases. The models have a base scenario and a prudent dos’ nsidc sccn;irio. The Board has considered
the Gri.up’s going concern by reviewing the cash flow forecasts of both Tilia and Hopkins. hemne the two main
trading hustnesses of the Group. which are modelled separately. Under both, tIle Gmtitip still maintains Ltdequate
liqrndity without the need for additional funding. As a result the Directors arc satislierl that the Grotip and
Company will he able to continue to he able to pay’ its liabilities as they ‘al I due for a period of at least I 2 months
from the date of signing these financial statements and therefore the Board has prepared the accounts on a going
concern basis.
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Directors Report for the period ended 31 March 2023 (continued)

Disclosure of information to the auditors

Under applicable Guernsey law, each director has taken steps that they ought to ha’ e taken as a director iii order
to make theinsel’ Cs aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Companv’s auditors arc ate

of that inforoiation The directors confirm that there is no rele ant information that rhev know of and of which
the’ know the auditors are una\are.

Appo ned by the Board on 28 September 2t )23 and signed n its behalf b:

An-t,to6t

A V B Gibbs
Director
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Tilia
Group Holdings Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion
In Our opinion:

• Tilia Group Holdings Limited’s group tinanciat statements and company financial statements (the financial

statements”) give a true and lair view ot the state of the group’s and of the company’s affairs as at 31 March 2023 and

of the group’s and company’s toss and the group’s cash flows for the period from 1 July 2022 to 31 March 2023;

• the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting

Standards (IFRS5) adapted in the Eurooean Union:

• the company fina”cal s!atements have been properly prepared in accordance w th Un tea Kingdom Generaly

Accented Accoun: ng P’act cc (United Kingdom Accocnt.ng Stancards. including ZRS 101 ‘Reduced Dsclosjre

°ranework”, and anpl cante aw): ad

• the f nancial s:atemets nave been urepared in accordance with the recu remets of the Comnan es (Guernsey) Law,

2008.

We have aeited the fina”ciat statements, included within ne Annual Repoc and Financial S;ate9ents. which comprise:

tne Cosolidatec S;atemen of Financia Positon and Company Statement of Einarc al Posiion as at 31 March 2023; the

Consolidated Income Statement. Consoidated Statement of Comprehensive ncom.e, Cosolida:ed Statement of

Changes in Equity. Consolidatea Cash Fow Statement and Company S:atemen: ot Changes in Equ tyler the period then

ended; ard :ne notes Ic :ne f nancial statements. wi ch inc uce a descrption ot the s gnificant acconting policies,

Basis for opinion
We cnnoucted our audi: in accordance wi:n ln:ernationa. Star’darcs o” Aud’ting (,K) (“!SAs UK)”) and aoplicable

Our responsibili:ies under ISAs (UK) are turtner descrbec in :he Auditors’ responsb:lities for the audit of the fiancal

s:aterren!s secton of our rend, We believe tha: the aud t eviderce we have ooained is suf9cien: ann appropria:e to

provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We re’aied indeoendent of the grouo in accordance with the e:ical requ rements thai we re evant to our auait of the

financial sta:ements :he UK wh cr inc uces ;he FRCs Ethical Standard, an’d we have fulfilled our other ethical

respcns biities ‘r accordance with these requiremen:s.

Conclusions relating to going concern
Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions

that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the groups and the company’s ability to continue as a going

concern for a period of at least twelve months from when the financial statements are authorised for issue,

In auditing the financial statements, we have concluded that the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting

in the preparation of the financial statements is appropriate.

14



Independent auditors’ report to the members of Tilia
Group Holdings Limited (continued)

Howeve. oecajse not all tu:ure events orcondit ors ca’ be predic:eo. ln:s conclus’on is no: a oc’rantee asto the group’s
and the company s ab lity tc continue as a going concern.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities ot the directors with respect lo going concern are described in the relevanl
sect ons ot this report.

Reporting on other information
The o:er inforrrat.on comprises at of the in’ormat or V the Annual Repori ether than the financial statemen:s and cur
auditors’ report thereon. The directors are responsible for the other information. Our opinion on the financial statements
does not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or. any form of assurance
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other inlormation is materially inconsistent with the linancial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materialty misstated. If we identify an apparent material inconsistency or material
misstatement, we are required to perform procedures to conctude whether there is a material misstatement of the financial
statements or a material misstatement of the other information. It, based on the work we have performed, we conclude
that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report based on these responsibilities.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the audit

Responsibilities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities, the directors are responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements in accordance with the applicable framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair
v ow. The o rectors are also respons ble or suc” inte’nat control as :hey oete’mine is necessary to enable the preparation
off racial statements that are tree from matera! misstatement. wnethe due to fraud or error.

In preparng :he financial s:atemets. the directors are respo—s’b’e tor assessing the groun’s and the company’s ab;ii:y to
ccntinue as a gong concern. d.sctos!rg. as applcab e. flatters related :o going concern and us ng :‘-e going concern
oasis of accounring u’ ess the directors either Vtend to ,iouoate the groo or the company o to cease operations. cr
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Ow objectives ae :0 ob:ain reasonab e assurance about wethe the financial s:atemen:s as a vr’ote are free fron’
material misstatement, whether cue to fraud or error, and to issue an aditors’ epcrt the: includes our cpnion
Reasonaole assurance is a high evei ot assurance, out is not a guarantee that an audit conoucted in accordance with
ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists, Misstatements can arise from traud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions ot users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-comptiance with laws and regulations. We design procedures in line
with our responsibilities, outlined above, to detect materiat misstatements in respect of irregularities, including fraud. The
extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is detailed below.
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Tilia
Group Holdings Limited (continued)

Based on our understanding of the group and industry, we identified that the principal risks of non-compliance with laws
and regulations related to to Heallh and Safely legislation and building regulations, arid we considered the extent to which

non-compliance might have a material effect on the financial statements. We also considered those laws and regulations

that have a direct impact on the financial statements such as Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 and UK tax legislation.

We evaluated management’s incentives and opportunities br fraudulent manipulation of the financial statements
(including the risk of override ot controls), and determined thaI the principal risks were related to posting inappropriate

journal entries to increase revenue or reduce expenditure and management bias in accounting estimates. Audit

procedures periormed by the engagement leam included:

• Discussions with management including consideration of known or suspected instances of non-compliance with laws
and regulations and traud;

• Evaluation of managements controls designed to prevent and detect irregularities;

• Review ot the financial statement disclosure and underlying support documentation;
• Challenging assumptions and judgments made by management in their accounting eslimates, in particular in relation

to the recoverability of work in progress and margin recognition;
• Identifying and testing journal entries.

There are inherent limitations in the audil procedures described above. We are less likely to become aware of instances

ot non-compliance with laws and regulations that are not closely related to evenls and transactions rellected in the

financial statements. Also, the risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher than the risk of not

detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional
misrepresentations, or through collusion.

A further description ot our responsibilities tor the audit of the financial statements is located on the FRC’s website at:

www.frc.org.uklauditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our auditors’ report.

Use of this report

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a body in accordance

with Section 262 ot The Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions,

accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose
hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

Other required reporting

Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 exception reporting
Under the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

• we have not obtained all the information and explanations we require for our audit: or

• proper accounting records have not been kept by the company, or

• the company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Tilia
Group Holdings Limited (continued)

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

PA 3

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Charlered Accountants and Statutory Auditors

London

28 September 2023
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Consolidated Income Statement for the period etided 31 March 2023

The ahose results ‘sere derived from continuing operations.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 2023 is the nine—month period ended
31 March 2023 and 2022 is the comparative twelve-month year ended 30 June 2022.

Note 9 month period ended 31 Nlarch 2023

Before
except i oil

items
£000

94.758
(169.2921

Exceptional
items (note 6) Total

£000 £Otlt)
- 194.758

(5.539) (171.8311

4

6

7
7

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit

-\dministrati ‘ e expenses
Share of post-tax pra:i: of
joint ventares

Operating profit

Profit before interest and

Ia

Finance income
Finance costs

Net finance cost

Loss before tax

I no wie tax eredi:

Loss for the financial
period/year

Year ended 30 June 2022

Before Total
exceptional Exceptional

items items ( note 6)
£000 LOOt) £000

181.129 - 181-129

(160.1731 — (160.173)

2t,256 - 21.256

27.0491 3.003; 30.052;

2.845 - 12.845

7.052 t3.003t 4.039

7,052 (3,003) 4,1)49

23 - 23
(21.107) — (21.107)

(21,084) - 21,084)

(14,1)32) (3,003) (17.035)

222 795

25.466 15,5391 t9,927

27.42)t
- 27.42:,

7.562 - 7.562

5,607 5.539 68

5,607 (5,539) 68

2)) - 20
I 303571 - (30.357)

(30,337) - (30,337)

(24.730) — (5,539) (3(1.26’.))

>425 - X2

t23.905i t5.5391 29.444 13.810t (2,4321 (16.242
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the period ended 3t tVlarch 2023

9 month period Year ended
ended 31 Nfarch 30 June

2023 2022
£ 000 £ 000

Loss [or the period/year ( 2Q444 I (16242)

Total eomprehensi’e expense or the perted/vear i2J.444t l6242t

The accompan\ing notes torm an inregral part of the financial statemenI. 21)23 is the nine—month period ended
3 I March 2023 and 2022 is the comparati’ e tveI c—month ‘ear ended 3() J tine 2022
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited
(Registration number: (68989)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2023

Non-current assets

Intangible assets

Rope it’. plant and eq ul pine ti

Right of use assets

Ins esiment in joint entures

Deferred tax assets

Trade and other ieee i vahles

Current assets

I n v en It ri es

Trade and other receis ahles

Current tax asset

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Current liabilities

‘l’rade and other pa’ ahles

lease liabilities

L ‘all 5 and horro s\ i n g S

Pros isions

Cu rreat tax iahilit

Non-current liabihties

Trade and other payahles

Lease liabilities

Provisions

Total liabilities

r%et assets

Equity

Cal led u p share capital

Accumulated lo,ses )/Relained earnings

Total equity

Gronp
31 March 2023

£ 000

42.706

513,038

764,836

Group
30 June 2022

£ 001)

131 .274

3,698

1.598

I 06i)09

3.6-’5

4.674

251.798

132 .892

3.652

2(192

112.492

2.762

4.129

258,019

428.830 366.987

9.K24 41.720

1.678
-

Note

2

13

‘4

II

IX

‘7

IX

19

21)
‘)1

21

II

20

22

32.097

440,804

________

698.823

t107.216) ,102.768j

(699) 19421

(566.716) t183.338t

23,553) (14.673)

(1.234;

1698,184) (602,955)

(38.376) (39.532)

(994) (1.260)

(7.242) (5.592)

(46,612) (46,384)

(744,796) (649,339)

20,040 49,484

.M).2X 30.248

10.208) 19.236

20,040 49,484
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

(Registration number: (68989)
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2023 (continued)

The financial statements on pages IX to 53 were approved by the Board on 28 September 2023 and signed on its
behalf by:

ó6t

A V B Gibbs
Director

The accompanying notes orill an integral part of the lintneiil Sta[CnlenlS. 2023 is the nine—month period ended
31 March 2023 and 2022 is the comparative t’ele-monih ‘ear ended 30 Jone 2022.
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the period ended 31 March 2023

Share capital
£ 000

Retained earningsf
(Accumulated losses)

£ 000
Total
£ 000

The acconipaii\ ing notes bum an iniegral part of the initneial statements. 2023 is the nine—month petiod ended
31 March 2023 and 2022 is the comparative twelve-omoimtli year ended 30 June 2022.

As at 1 July 2021

Lot’ for the ear and total

conlprehensi\ e expense

At 30 June 2022

As at 1 July 2022

I oss for the period and irta I

eomprehenmve expense

At 31 March 2023

30,248 35,478 65,726

- (l6.22} (16.242

30.248 19.236 49.48

Retained earnings/
Share capital tAcctamulated losses) Total

£ 000 £ 000 £ 000

30,248 19,236 49,481

- (29.444) (29.444

30,248 (10,208) 20,040
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Cash flows from operating activities

Loss for the veal

Adjeistnieiirsfi’i:

Deprec at ion

A ‘itOri isa t on

Interest expense

Tax at tin

Share o prolil ofequit\ accounted loint ‘entures

Profit on disposal of rieht of use assets

ncrease fl i\ isions

Operating cash flow before changes in working capital

Decrease/t increase) in trade and other receivables

1ncreae in inventories

Decrease in trade and other pa ables

Cash flow from operating activities

Tax paid

Net cash flow from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Acquisition ci intangible assets

:\equisition ci tangible assets

Proceeds I rem sale of tangible fixed assets

DR idends from equity accounted joint ‘ entures

Lean repayments rein euutv accounted joint ventures

AcqaKitton iii subsidiar\ undertaking. net of cash acquned

Net cash flows from investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Principal elemeni of leasing pavnwnts

n terest paid

Pri ccc ci s In m cans

Net cash flow from financing activities

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents ai beginning of period! year

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 2023 / 30 June 2022

Year ended
30 Jtine

2022

£ 000 £ 000

(29.444) (16,212;

885

748

20.63r

793:

I 2,845;

19,

I 8.734 8.503

13,107 867

1.350 ( 10.988’

tñl.843 (29.430:

(2556t 41663:

(49,942) (85,214)

(2.970) (4. lsm

i52..’12i (89,364]

- (1357;

(288i (-3()

8 -

6.72(1 6.052

3.025 685

- 239.992

9,465 (235,042]

(272) ( .946;

t2.256)

56.584 3)4.86!

54,056 312,915

10,609 (11,491)

32.097 43.588

42,706 32,097

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the period ended 31 March 2023
9 month period

ended 31 March
Note 2023

1.618

29.586

825 I

(7.562)

3. 4

2

7

II

16

IS

17

20

II

2

‘3

3

6

6

14

21

19

The accompanying notes form an inwgral part of the financial statements. 2023 is the
31 March 2023 and 2022 is the comparative twelve-month year ended 30 June 2022.

nine-month period ended
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31 March 2023

I General information

Tilia Group Holdings Limited ( the Company) and its subsidiaries (together the Group ) are engaged in the
building of residential properties.

The Company is a private limited company which is incorporated in Guernsey and domiciled in the UK. The
address of the registered oftice is:

G iou n d Flour
Cambridge House
Le Truchot
St Peter Port
Guernsey
GYI IWI)

The registered number is 68989.

2 Accounting policies

Summary of significant accounting policies and key accounting eslirnates

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below, These
policies have been consistently applied to all the ears presented. unless otherwise stated,

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of ‘Film (hotip I loldings Limited have been prepared in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) and INRS Interpretations Comnutiee (INRIC) iterpretatiuns
as adopted by the European Union (EU). The cc it si ilid ated financial statements have bee it prepared under the
historical cost convention.
The preparation of consolidated financial statement in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical
accounting estimates. It also reqtnres management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group
aceotinting policies he areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity. or areas where assumptions
and estimates are significant Iti the consolidated financial statement are disclosed in note 3.

Going concern
The directors adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Groups financial statements.

The Group had net assets and cash as at 3 I March 2023 of £20.Om and £42.7ni respectively. Funding to the Group
is pro’ ided in the form of a loan from a related party. Foster Investntents Linuted. The principal amount of loan
outstanding at 3 I March 2023 was £153 .Ini. The loan is repayable on demand, however the Group anti Company
have recened written contirmation from Foster Investments Limited that the loan will not he recalled ‘or at least
I 2 months from the date of approval of the financial statements. The interest rate on the loan is KV . l’he Grotip
also holds an external RCF with a total limit of I 20Dm. with £66.Om drawn at 3 I Mai’eh 2023. which expires in
February 2028 with interest ‘ate of SONIA plus 2.5-3.07

The Board has reviewed the business’s cash flow forecasts for the period to 30 September 2024. based on certain
key assumptions which include the price and volume of completed house sales over that period and changes in
supplier purchases. The models have a base scenario and a prudent downside scenario. The Board has considered
the Group’s going concern by reviewing the cash flow forecasts tif both Tilia and Hopkins. being the two main
trading businesses of the Group. which are modelled separately. Under both. the Grotip still maintains adequate
liquidity without the need for additional funding. As a result the Directors are satisl’ied that the Group and
Company will he able to eontintte to be able to pay its liabilities as they’ fall due for a period of at least I 2 months
from the date of signing these financial statements anti therefore the Board has prepared the accounts on a going
concern basis.
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited
Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31 March 2023 (continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Changes in accounting policy

Therear e no amendments to accounting standards. or IFRIC interpretations that are effective or the period ended
31 March 2023 that have a material impact on the company s financial statements.

Tilia Homes. within the Group. has adopted a change to its site margin recognition policy during the period. In
order to determine the profit that the Group is able to recognise on its developments in a specific year. the Group
has to allocate site—wide development costs hetween units hu It in the current period and in future years. l’ilia
Homes has aligned its margin recognition to Hopkins Homes. Under the new policy when there is a change in the
end-of-li fe margin percentage, Tilia Homes will make the adjustment to cost of sales in the current period going
hack to the start of the current financial year. whereas previously the change to cost of sales would have gone
hack to the start of the project.

Business Combinations

B usiness comhinations are accounted for using the ae quisition method as at the acquisition date. which is the date
on which control is transferred to the Group.

The Group measures goodwill at the acquisition date as:

• the fair value of the consideration transferred: plus
• the recognised amount of any non—controlling interests in the acquiree: plus
• the fair value of the existing equity interest in the acquiree: less
• the net recognised ainoupt (generally fair value) of the identi fiahle assets acquired and I iahi I ties

assumed.

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Transaction costs related to the acquisition are expensed in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration payahle is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent
consideration is classified as equity. it is not remeasured. and settlement is accounted for within equity. Otherwise.
suhsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit and loss.

On a transaction—by—transaction basis, the Group elects to measure non—controlling interests, which have both
present ownership interests and are entitled to a proportionate share of net assets of the acquiree in the event of
liquidation, either at its fair value or at its proportionate interest in the recognised amount of the identifiable net
assets of the acquiree at the acquisition date. All other non—controlling interests me measured at their fair value at
the acqtusition (late.

Consolidation

h) Se,1,suIiar,e.

Stthsidtaries are all entities (including structured entities) o’ er which the Group has control. The Group controls
an entity when the Group is exposed to. or has rights to. variable rettirns from its involvement with the entity md
can affect those returns through its power over the entity. Stthsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on
which control is transferred to the Grotip. They are deconsolidated loin the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unreal msed gains on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unreal ised losses are also eliminated. When necessary. amounts reported by subsidiaries have been
adj usted to conform to the Group’s accounting policies.
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31 March 2023 (continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued)

b) 101)1 (IfloItiCWfl’I)7S

The Group applies )FRS I I to all joint arrangements. Under IFRS I I in’ esiments in joint arrangements are
classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the contractual rights and obligations of each
mvestor. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangements and determined them to he joint ventures.
Joint vcntures are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting. interests in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group s share of the post—acquisition profits or losses and movements in other
comprehensise income. When the Groups share of losses in a joint venture equals or exceeds its interests in the
joint venture (which includes any long—tcnn interests that, in sohstance. form part of the Group s net investment
in the joint \-cnturet. the Gi-oup does not recognise tuither losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
pay ments on behalf of ihe oini enture.

Aceoanting p01 ieie’ of the joint venttnes his e been changed where necessary to ensure consistency wiih I he
policies adopted nv ilie Group.

Functional and presentational currency
Reins included in the tinaneial staieiiients of the Group are meistired using the currency of the primary economiC
en’ ironment in slneh the Group operates (‘the functional currency t The hnaneial statements are presented In
‘Pounds Sterling’ CL) which is also ihe Circ’tip’s t’tmetioual euIieiie’

Current and deferred income ta

The tax expense for the year comprises eurient and deterred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except that a
change attributable to an item of income or expense i’eeognised as other eoniprehensive income is also recognised
directly in other comprehensive uleome.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting (late in the countries where the Group operates and generates taxable
iticome.

Deferred income tax is tecognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements and on unused tax losses or tax credits in the
Group. Deferred meoine tax is determined tism ng ta.s rates and laws that have been enaeteLl or stibstantively
enacted by the iepoiting date.

The can ving amotint of deferred tas assets are reviewed at each reporting date and a valuation allowance is set tip
against deterred tax assets so that the net Larry ing amount equals the highest amount tha: is more likely than not
to he reeosered based on current or future ia.sable profit.

Deferred tax assets .ini! liabilities are otiset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by’ the same taxation
autnorit’ on either lie same taxable entity or difterent taxable entities s hete there is an intention to settle the
balances on a net basis.
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2 Accounting policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
Land is not depreciated. Property, plant and equipment is stated in the statement ot F inincial positioii at
historical cost, less any accumulated depreciation. The cost ol property. plant anti equipment includes directly
attributable incremental costs incurred in their acquisition anti installation. Subsequent costs, such as
relurhishtiient costs, are included in the assets eanying value or recognised as a separate asset. as appropriate.
only when it s probable that future economic henetits associated s ith the item svii flow to the Group and the
cost of the tent can he measured rehablv. All oilier repans and maintenance costs are charged io the income
siaiemeni durine the financial year in which ihe are incuncd.

Depreciation is ehareed to write off the cost of assets in eqtial annual mstalments over tile sear of their etimaied
economic lives. tchtch are principail’ as follows:

Leasehold htitidings and improvements Year ot lease

Free h I properi 50 ‘ eats

Plant and equipment including vehclcs 3- I 2 years

The assets’ residual values and useful h’es are reviewed. anti atlitsied if appropriate, at the end of each reporting
ear.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoerahic ailititnit it’ the asset’s carrying ainottnt
is greater than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing the proceeds with tile carrying attiount anti are
recognised ss ithin ‘Administrative expenses’ in the income statement u here appropriate.

lttvestinent in SI’ bsidiaries
lnestment in subsidiaries ate held at cost less accumulated iiiipairtiient lc’ssev

Investments in joint ventures
Insestitlents in toint sentures are accounted ‘or at the cost oi’the initial capitai cotitrihution anti proLts recognised
via eqtot\ aecotinting shossn in the financiai statement tinder share of joint sentures proWs. Joint sentures are

iundatiiental to tite Groups operations and therefore the share of post—tax resuits oi joint sentures is presented
ss ithin operating proiit.

[fiand is sold to a tont ‘enture. onl the ptopt’t’;itn not owned by Gioup is recognised as revenue and hence profit

in the period. s oh the proportion owned by the Group bctng ehmtnatcd as tinreahsed stithin the group. The proiti

is then realised in tuture periods as completed tnsenitiry 5 sold to a third party.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents cotliprise cash on hand and call deposits, and other shorttcrm hiuhly ltL1titd tnesiments
thai are re’adtly convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in vaitie.

Trade and other receivables

Trade receisablcs are amorints drie from cttstomers or stock sold or ser’ ices perfoi med in the ordinary course of
business.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the transaction price. They ate subsequently measuied at atitirtised
cost ustng the effective interest method, less provision for i mpairtoent.

The Group applies the IFRS 9 expected cretht and losses method to estimate the pro’ ision for impairment for
trade receivables at year end.

27



Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31 March 2023 (continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Inventories

The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour
costs and those overheads that have been incurred in bringing the inventories to thcir prcscnt location and
condition, At each reporting date, inventories are assessed for impairment. If inventory is i nipaired. the carrying
amount is reduced to its selling price less costs to complete and sell the impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Contract work in progress is stated at costs incurred, less those transferred to the income statement. alter
deducting foreseeable losses’anl payments on account not yet matched with turnover.

Speculative housing land, stock plots and work in progress. which includes attributable overheads, is stated at
the lo\ver of cost or net real isble value.

Part exchange stock is stated at the lower of cost or net realisable value.

Pro visions

Provisions are recognised when the Group hasa present or legal constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, and where it is probable that an outflow will he required to settle the obligation and ihe amouni can he
reliably estimated. Provisions held by the Group are currently limited to onerous contracts, closed sites and
iiiuntenanee.

Onerous fixed build contracts provision on a small nuinher ol developments, to account for the latest estimate
of costs to complete.

Closed sites provision consists of costs to complete on closed sites.

Maintenance provision covers after care on completed homes. Which includes costs to recti lv fire safety
defects identified on a limited number of historic buildings.

Contingent liabilities

In accordance with lAS 37. the Group monitors. as contingent liabilities, those possible obligations arising from
past events, whose existence \vill he confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of uncertain future events
not wholly within its control and those present obligations arising from past events not recognised because it is
either not probable that an outflow of resources will he required to settle the obligation or the amount cannot he
measured with sufl’ieient reliability-.

Employee benefits
A (Ic fined eonirihution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate
eno ty. The Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay l’urther contributions if the fund does not hold
sufi ieient assets to pa-’all employees the benefits relating to employee service in the current and prior years.
Obligations ‘or contributions to detined contribtition pension plans are recognised as an expense in the prot’it
and loss-ac count in the years during which services are rendered by employees.

Borrowings

All borrowings are initially recorded at the amount of proceeds received, net of transaction costs. Borrosvings are
subsequently carried at amortised cost, with the difference between the proceeds. net of transaction costN. and the
amount due on redemption being recognised as a charge to the income statement over the year of the relevant
hot-i-owing.

Interest expense is recognised on the basis of the effective interest method and is included in l’inanee costs.

Borrowings are classified as cui’i’ent liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of
the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date.
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2 Accounting policies (continned)

Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Equity nistruments are measured at the fair value of the cash or other
resources received or receivable, net of the direct costs of issuing the equity instruments. If payment is deferred

and the time value of money is material, the initial measurement is on a present value basis.

Dividends

Dividend distribution to the Groups shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements
in the year in which the dividends are approved by the Group’s shareholder.

Revenue and profit recognition

R ecog /t ((jO/I

There are three streams all of which are a result of the Group’s principle activity as a regional househuilder.

Pr/s 0(0 S(I ie.c

Revenue is recognised at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable on legal completion. being the
point that control is deemed to pass to the ctistoiner.

Protit is recognised on the sale by reference to the estimated cost based on an allocation from the expected overall
cost out—turn l’or the development site. The principal estimation technique used by the Company in attributing
profit on sites to a particular period is the preparation of forecasts of costs to complete on a site—by—site basis.
Consistent review procedures are in place in respect of site forecasting.

Afidrdab/e hoo.snig

The Company constructs and sells residential properties and undertakes associated development activities under
long—term contracts with customers. Such contracts are entered into before construction of residential properties
or associated development activities begin. Under the terms of the contracts, the Company has an en forceable
right to payment for work done. Revenue from construction of residential properties and associated development
activities is thercfore recognised over time based on a certilied monthly valtiation of work performed or the
assessed physical stage of completion at the balance sheet date.

The Company reports the net contract position for each contract as either an asset or a liability. A contract
represents an asset where costs incurred plus recognised profits (less recognised losses) exceeds progress billings:
a contract represents a liability svhere the opposite is the ease.

Pail excha’tge

In certain sittiations. a property nay he accepted in part consideration for a sale of a residential property. The fair
value is estahl shed by independent surveyors and ‘se take into consideration costs to sell the part exchange
property in the future. Gross proceeds generated from the subsequent sale of part exchange properties arc recorded
as a revenue event with a coriespondi ng cost of sale. The original sale is recorded with the fair value of the
exchanged property replacing cash receipts.

Ca .vlt in ret il/i cs

The transaction price may include cash incentives. These act as a discount from the purchase price oliered to the
customer and accounted for as a reduction to revenue.

Loot! sale revenue

Althotigh rare. if land purchased in the Group is subsequently translerred to a Group entity such as a joint venture.
then the land transfer is recorded as revenue in the Group at the point unconditional transfer occurs. Land is
transferred at market valtie and will have been agreed by both entities.
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2 :ccotiiiting policies (continued)

Interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest niethod, When a loan and receivable is impaired. the
Group reduces the carrying ;mount to its recoverable amount. being the estimated future cash flow discounted at
(he one i nal effective interest rate of the instrument and continue, unwinding the discount as interest income.
Interest i ncottte on impaired loan and receivables is recognised ustng the original effee ttve interest rate.

Forward land

Expetiditure relatt ng to forss ard land is initially i ecognised (in the balance sheet sc thin inventories. These
atitounts are revies’ed regularl and urtttcn till to the tncome statement uhen it ts not probable that related
options ‘ill be exercised.

Intangible assets

Goodwill arising on (he acquisttton ofan entity represents the excess of the cost of acquisition over the Groups
interest in the net latr value of the tdenttfiahle assets. ]iabilittes and contingent liabilities of the enttty recognised
at the date of acquisition. Goodwill is initially recognised is an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at
cost less an\ accttmttlated i mpttirment losses.

Goodwill is not subject to amortisation hut is tested for impairment.

Costs associated svtth iflai ntai n ing eotiiputer software programmes arc recognised as expenses as inetirred,
Development costs that are directly attrihutahle to the design and testing of identiftable and unique .sottware
products controlled by the Grottp are recogtiised as tntaneihlc assets when the tollowing criteria are met:

• it is technicalls Feasible to complete the software so that it will he available for use:
• management intends to complete the software aticl use it;
• there is an ability to use the software;
• it can he demonstrated how the software wi I generate prohahle future economic benefits:
• adequate technical. finatieial and other resources to complete the deselopment and to use the software arc
;ivailahle; and
• the expenditui’c attribui;dsle to the software during its deselognient can he reltablv mcasiii’ed.

Dtrectl attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the soft” are include thes sftware development employ cc
costs, Other des elopment expenditures that do not meet these criteria ate recognised as an expense as incurred.
Des cltiptiient costs pies tously recognised as an cxpen’e are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent car

Computer softss at-c des elopment costs recognised as ascets are amortised on a straight—line hasts ovei their
estimated ttsetil lives. svhich does not exceed 7 years.

Brand is i ccognised as an asset and is amortised on a straight-I inc basis over its estimated rise ful life cit 21) cats.

‘[‘he line i;en oi the tneotne statement in svhtcli amcii’tis;ttictn of intangible assets is included is adnittiistiatis’e
expenses.

Trade and other pay ables

Creditors are obligattons to pay for goods or set-’ it_es that have been acquired in the ordin;trv eotirse of htistness
from suppliers. Tt’ade Lind other payahles are classtl’icd as etiri’ent liabilities if payment is due s thin one ear or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they’ are presented as non—curt-cut liabilittes.

Trade payahles ate recognised initially at the transaction 1rieL’and stthsequently measured at amortised cost tist ng
the eftecti se interest method,

I_and credi tot’s are discounted at an appropriate rate and measured at present value svithtn the balance sheet,
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2 Accounting policies (continued)

Leases
As required under IERS 16. assets and liabilities arising horn a lease ate initially nieasured on a present ‘alue
basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value ot the following lease pay inents:

Fixed payments ( i ic Iodine in—substance fixed payments ). less any lease incenti’ es receivable:
• Variable lea’e pamenis that are based on an index or a rame. initally measured tising the index or raie as at the
commencemeni date:
• Amounts expected to he pa’ able by the Group under residual aloe guarantee’:
• The exercise price ot a purchase option if the Group is reasonabh certani 10 exercise thai option: and
• Payments of penalties for terminating the lease. ml the lease term reflects the Group exercising tha: opuon.

Lease pay me nts to he made under reasonably certain extension opt otis are also ncluded in the measurement of
the liability.

The lease payment are discounted using the interest rate implicit ti the lease. It that rate cannot he readily
determined. which is generall> the case for leases in the Groap. the lessees incremental borrowing rate is used.
being the ate that the individua lessee would hase to pa\ to borrmn the funds necessary to obtain an asset ot
similar value to the right—of—usc asset in a similar econoniie envirotinient with ‘jinilar terms. seeririty and
‘olitions

The Group is exposed to potential ftittire increases in ariable lease payments based on an indc.x or i:ite. which are
not included in the lease I,ahtlity unul they take effect. When adjustments to lease pa\ ments based on an index or
rate take effect, the lease I iahil ity is reassessed and adj usted against the right -of-use asset.

Lease pay ments ttre allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is chaiged to prolit or ass Over
the lease year to produce a constant periodic rate olinterest on the remaining balance of the li:ihilitv for each year.

Right—of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

• The atiti1int of the initial measurement of lease liability:
• Any lease pa ments made at or hek we the commencement date less an’ lease incentis es iecei\ erl:
• Any initial Llirec: costs: and
• Any restoration costs.

Right—ot—use assets are generally depreciated o’er the shorter ol the asset’s u,ci’til life and the leac term on a
straiglu—line hasi5. Lf the Gioup i5 reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option. the right—al—use asset is
depreetateci over the tinderlying assets tiseltil life.

The Group has elected to tise the following reeognttion exemptions, as permitted by the standard:

• Leases isf low—value ttetns — The Group has dcl’tned low valtie items as assets that hisc a alne when new of less
than £5k, Lisw value items comprise IT equipment and small items of plant.
• Short—term leases — Leases wtth a lease term of less than 12 mnonthsat inception.

For leases in the above categories, a lease liability or rtght-ol -tise asset is not recogn tsed . lnsiead. the Group
reeognises the related lease paytiients within VIP or as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term,

Coniracis may contain both lease and non—lease components. The Group allocates the eisnstderatton in the contract
to the lease and non—IL’’ase components based on their relative stand—alone prices.

Leased properties that meet the definition of investment properties are presented with in ‘in vesm inent properties
rather than ‘right—of—use assets’ on the balance sheet.
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2 ,-\ccounting policies (continued)

Exceptional items

ExceptonaI tents are items that are material either indis idualls or, if oi’a siniilar type. iii aggregate anti sshich.
due to tliei r ilattiie or the in frequenc’ of the events givi tie rise to them. are presented separately to enhance
tinderstantliuc of the financial performance of the Group. Such tents are excluded tom the profit and loss
account helote exceptional items because they are not considered to be representative of the trading
perlonitance of the Group during the period.

3 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

lile pre1ianition of financial statements in conformity with JFRS reqttires the use of certain critica] accounting
est mates. It also requ ties management to exercise its j utlgemeni in the process of applying the Company’s
accottnii ng pi Itcies. making a judgement on the recoverability ol inventory and judgement over the treatment ni
ci iii vetitut-es. The areas involving a higher decree of udgetnent or complexity. or areas where assumptions and

estitiiatcs arc significant to the ttnancial statements are discinsed below.

Other sources of estimation uncertainty

Cost allocation and estimation

In order to determine the piotit that the Group is able to recognise on its developments in a specific year. the
Group has to allocate site—wide development costs beiss ccii units built in the current period and in future years,
It also has to estimate costs to complete. including those dris en by climate related regulation. on such
developtitents. and titake estimates relatmg to future sales price niargins on those developments and units. [II
ntakitig these Ltssesstllcnts. there is a degree of itiherent utncertainty The range oh’ possible oritcotnes naturally
ittcreases in periods oh economic uncertainty and the Group’s iliargul is sensitive to cost inliation. particularly if

not offset by house price inflation, and a fall iii sales rates

Pro i’i.cion .c

Pros isons are recognised svhen the Company has a present or legal construetise obligation as a result of a past
e’ en,, and ss let-c it is probable that an outflos’ svil I be t-equircd ti settle the obligation and the amotint can he
reliably cstitltateLi All onerous contracts. closed sites- •titl maintenance provisions are based on managettient’s

best estimate of lie poteitial costs. There is inherent tincertaintv in assessing the s alues and timing of these
pro’ shins. ‘Ihey are res iewed regularly- throughout tite scar h management.

Good’s’ill ,‘eco u’erabiliry

In accordance ss ith the aecountine polic’ stated in note 2. goedss ill is tested for impairment annualls here is a
decree of inherent estimation uncertainty in the calculations atid asstinptions tised. The assumptions base been
suhtcet to seilstis it anah sis

Critical accounting jtidgements

Joitit i’enlure.c

In accordance ith IFRS I I joint ventures are identil’ied where the control of an arrangement is shared and
decisions around activities require unanimous consent if the action significantly affects the investees return - The
key udgement invols ed In determining oint control is that the Board structtire does not give any title party
majority control user relevant activities, regardless of the economic split between partners.
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4 Revenue

An analysis of the Groups revenue is as tollows:

2023 2022
£ 000 £ 000

Revenue from the sale of private housing I 75.138 161 .237
Re enue from the sale of affordable housing I 8370 18,596
Re’ enue from the sale of part exchange properties 195 1.596
Revenue from sale of land I .055

Total revenue 194.758 181.429

5 Operating profit

Arrived at after charging:

2023 2022
Note £ 000 £ 000

Amortisation expense 12 1,61K 748

Depreciation expense . 13 234 97

Depreciation of right of use assets 14 766 788

Exceptional items 6 5.539 3.003

6 EceptionaI items

Included in the income statement are the following:

Narrative 2023 2022
reference £ 000 £ 000

Legacy closed site provisions 5.539

Acquisition costs u 3003

5.539

(i ) Legacy closed site /7/i ii.s ions (2023)
An in—year review of legacy liabilities, as part ot Tilia’s next phase of transformation, identified costs associated
with getting legacy closed sires fully adopted by local authorities and removing future responsibility and liability
for maintenance or fire safety defects identilied on a limited number of historic buildings.

(ii) Acc1iiivilion vmtv (2022)
Exceptional items of £3.003k relating to the acquisition of Hopkins Homes were incurred during the prior year.
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7 Net finance costs

2023
£ 000

26795

2687

Wages and Salaries 28.939
Sc cc al Sec uviv costs

Pension costs, defined contribution cI1emL’

Pr tn tOM ion

Ad In in i strat ion and support

Sales, marketing and distribution

33 .5 $ 2

2022
£ 000

9.657

84C

interest due on loan with related party Foster investments Li mieed

Interest due on external bank loan

Interest on finance lease liabilities

Unwinding of discount (In land creditois and other tents

interest due on loan Irota related party Foster Topco Limtted

)ther finance income

Net finance costs

S Staff costs

104

77 I

‘5)

133

477

(19;

(5) 4;

30.337 21.084

The aggregate payroll costs (including directors reniuneratioti) for the period were as follows:

2023
£ 000

3.337

1.306

2022
£ 000

29.968

3.51$

1.147

34.633

The a’ erage monthl\ number ol persons emplc ed by the Group (including direc:ors t dtiring the period. analysed
h\ categor’ was as uI lows.

2023 2022
No. No,

384 419

98 8$

127 133

609 64C
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9 Directors remuneration

None of the directors are remunerated by the Group. The directors do not receive any reniuneration fot’ their role
as statutory directors. The directors are covered hya Directors and Officers Liability insurance policy.

Remuneration of key management personnel

The key management personnel comprise the statutory directors of the Group s main trading businesses. Ti I ia
Homes and Hopkins Homes. The remuneration of the key management personnel of the Group is set out below
in aggregate for the period.

Salaries and short-term employment henelits 3555

Pen si on contributions

Audit of the parent company and consolidated financial statements
Audit of the financial statements of the Group s subsidiaries

Total audit services

165 182

3.720 3.553

2023 2022
£ 000 £ 000

73 60
238 235

31! 295

Analysis of tax credit for the period:

Current lax

UK corporation tax at 19%

UK residential property developer tax

Adjustment in respect of prior year 58

Deferred taxation

Origination and reversal of timing differences

Adjustments in respect of prior years

Etfect of tax rate change on opening balance of losses brought forward

Effect of tax rate change on closing hdancc from current period
movement

Tax credit on profit on ordinary activities

- (460)

(825) (793)

The tax on loss before tax for the period is lower (2022: lower) than the st:uidard rate of corporation tax in the UK
of 19% (year ended 30 June 2022: 19%).

2023
£ 000

10 Auditors’ remuneration

2022
£ 000

3-37!

In addition, the auditor also audits the Gi’oup’s joint ventures for fees of3 16k (2022: £281k).

11 Income tax credit

2023
£ 000

2022
£ 000

1.952

1)

828

(l.256)

(744)

(1.2 14)

(682)

(201)
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Loss he lore tax

Tax iitt loss at standard (.1 rate 11! 1r..

Fixed asset di lierenees

Lxpenses not deductible or tax purposes

Other permanent dilierences

Addhional deduction from transition to FRS I (H

UK residential property developer tax

AdiustmenI post acquisition — current tax

Adjustments in respect of prior years — current tax

Adjustments in respect of prior years — rle erred tax

Movement in deferred tax not recognised

Etleet o( tax rate change

lax credit for the period/year

130.269t t l7.t135

(5.766) t3237i

4) -

5.107 4.300

(3.046) -

- (367)

— It)

58 -

252 (744)

367 -

2.207 1.674)

(825) (793)

Ilie deterred tax balance as at the period end has been recognised at 25% (2022: 19’A in respect of tax losses and
25v (2022: 25c? t in respect of accelerated tax depreciation. When considering the recoverability nt deferred tax
assets, the taxable protit forecasts are based on the same ininritiatton used to support the going concern assessitient.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax mi’\ ement durine the period:

11 Income tax credit tcontinued

The di fet-ences are reconciled helm’

2023
£ 000

2022
£ (HIt)

f ax losses

Accelerated tax (Icpreeiata’n
Short teim timing differences
[.abditv on lair alue uplifts on acquisition

Net tax aset-

Recognised At
As at 1 July in income 31 March

2022 statement 2023
£ 000 £ 000 £ 000

7 .t 142 9N3

t37-1t
Ui

X.t)25
(3L2)

-fl

-.335i 242 4,093t

1.762 883 3.645
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11 Income tax credit (continued)

Del’erted tO x 11(0. emen t during the prior year:

At I JuI\ 2022 and 3 I March 2023

Accumulated amortisation

At I JuI\ 2022

Charge for the period

:\i 31 March 2023

Net book amount

At 31 \larch 2023

At 30 June 2022

An anmrttsation expense ol LI.618k (2022: £748L) has been
statement during the period ended 31 March 2023.

chartred to adtiitnistratie expenses in the tncome

As at 31 March 2023 the Groups balance sheet includes goodwill of LI IS. 7m in relation to tts acquisition of
Hi pktns Homes Group Limited which was acquired on 20 January 2022. The acqtt i red business ci insists ot one
cash generating unit ( ‘CGU ). The Group tests whether goodwill has su I ered an impairment on an annual
basis, or more regularly where there are indicators of mpairtnent. The recoerabIe amount for the Hopkins
Homes Ltmited CGU ts based on a set of key assumpitons that include detat led cash fIt projections in the
short to medium term. and broader macroeconomic assumptions including an appropriate discount rate. A ten—
year cash flow period has been utilised to relied the expected development of the hustness across the
househuilding cycle, Cash flows beyond the ten—year period are extrapolated tist ng a perpetuity growth rate of
27 which is considered a reasonable estimate based on historical long—term UK industrial growth rates.

As at I July
2021

£ 000
3.169

255

3.424

Recognised
in incoitte

statement
£000

3.873

t223;

23

3.673

Fair value
adjttstments

on

acquisition
£ 000

4.335i

4.335

Tax Ii isses

Accelerated ta deprectation

Short tern timing di lThrences
Liability on fair alue uplifts on acquIsition

Net tax assets

12 Ititatigible assets

Cost

At
30 June

2022
£ 000

7.042

4.335)

2.762

CRNI system ERP Brand Good ill Total
£ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000 £ 000

1.426 1.497 15.076 I 15.697 133.696

725 79 -
- 804

501 238 879 - 1.618

1.226 317 879 - 2.422

2(M} 1.180 14.197 I 5.697 131.271

701 1.418 15.076 I 15.697 I 32.X92
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Key assumptions:

Sales rates: Sales rate assumptions ranging lrom 0.47 to 0.60 completions per site per week which
rellect prudcntl realistic estimates In the near term determined from historical experience and the
current wider econoillrc backdrop. with a return to a level that is more reflective ol the long—term
histoncal average ri the sector over (he medium term:

Site margin tAc tual current site rnargi ns ha c been used ft,r known sites. takr ng accouni of expected
sales prices in the local market. and a 21 f gross margin (post sales and marketing cosrs has been used
for new. unidenri I ed business plan sires — agarn this re fleets a catrtrous assumption based on historic
delivery: and

Discount rate: A \\‘ACC rate of I 2 OcI has been calculated and used to den c a pre—tax discount rate
to he applied to pre—tax cash flows.

Based on these forecasts as at 3 I March 2023. the value in use of the CCLI exceeds the carr\ inc value of
goodsvil I by £22.8m. As a result, no impairmenr rs necessary. An increase in discount rate of more than 65 basis
points would he required to eliniiinate headroom . Whilst there is short term market uncertainty, a reductron ri
sales rates impact timine of cash receipts as opposed to the total cash flows such that nanagenwnt dont helie’e
a reasonable possible change in this assumption could lead to an iniipairmrtent. Srmrlarly. any potential reductron
iii margin is assumed to he short term and wouldn’t lead to an intparrmnent.

13 Propert’. plant and equipment

At 1 July 2022

Additions

Disposals

At 31 March 2023

Accumulated depreciation

At I July 2022

Charge or the period

l)is s:

Freehold Plant & equipment
£ 000 £ 000

330 3.427

288 288

(8) (8)

610 3.707

At 31 March 2023

Carrying amount

.-\t 31 March 2023

IllS) 109 (.9)

2,979 719 3.695

At 30 Jane 2022 3.086 566 3.652

The depreciation expense of £234k (2022: £97k ) has been charged to administrative
statement (luring the period ended 3 I March 2023.

expenses in the i ncorae

12 Intangible assets (continued)

Cost

Total
£ 000

3.097

(II)

(107)

236

(127)

225

(2341
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14 Right of use assets
Land and
buildings Motor velucles IT equipment Total

£ 000 £ 000 £ 001) £ 000

Carrying amount
At I July 2022 791 1.254 47 2.092

Additions 56 402 - 458
Disposals

— (186) — (186)
Depreciation charge for the period (355) (379) (32)

At 31 March 2023 492 1.091 15 [598

Expenses relating to short—term and low value assets for the period was Enil (2022: End).

15 Subsidiary undertakings of the Group

The following information relates to the principal suhsidiary undertakings ot the Group. in the opinion of the
directors. these companies are those whose results or financial position principally affect the results of the Group.

Group’s Group’s
Registered office effective effective

Name of subsidiary Principal activity shareholding shareholding
2023 2022

Allison Homes Eastern Dormant Tungsten Bru Idi ng. B lythe Valley Business I 0071
Limited Park. Solihull. England. B90 8AU

Bel winch Homes Dormant Tungsten Building. Blythe Valley Business l00k
Limited Park. Solihull. England. B90 8AU

Bcllvinch Homes Dormant Tungsten Building. Blythe Valley Business 1007
(Western) Limited Park. Solihull. England. B90 8AU

Bell winch Limited Dormant Tungsten Building. B ythe Valley Business I (X)c/r

Park. Solihull. England. B90 8AU

Ti I a B dco Limited * intermediate Ground Floor. Canihridge House. Le Truchot. I 007 100%
Holding Company St Peter Port. Guernsey. GY I I WD

Ti ia Homes Limited Residential Tungsten Building. Blythe Val Icy Business 100% I 007
h ou schu i Id i ng Park. Sol ihu II, England. B 90 KAU

Sea Place Management Dormant Queensway House. I Quccnsway. New Mi lion. I 001/r i00k
Limited Hampshire. BH25 5NR
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15 Subsidiary undertakings of the Group (continued)

Group’s Group’s
Registered office effective effective

Nante of subsidiary Principal activity shareholding shareholdin
2023 g 2022

TWa Homes Caledonia Residential Tungsten Building. Blythe Valley Business 10071 i007
Limited development Park. Solihul!. England. BOO AU

Ti;ia Homes Northern Dormant Tungsten Building. Bl’the Valle) Btisi:es 10071
Limited Park. Solihull. England. BOO SAL

Tilia Land Limited Dormant Tungsten Building. Blthe Valk Business lO0 looc?
Park. Solihull. England. BOO XAU

T:lia Living Dormant Tungsten Building. Blvihe Valle Business 1007 ltXY?
Developments Limited Park. .Soli hul . England. BOO AU

lilia Partnership Residential Tungsten Building. Bk the Valle Business 007 11)1)4
Homes Limited hou3ehuilding Park. Solihull. England. BOO XAU

Tempstord Cedar3 Non—trading tungsten B uildtng. Bk the Vil 1ev B tisiness I 0071
Limited Park. Solihull. Eneland. BOO XAL

Tvigden F-Lone3 Dormant tungsten Building. Bk the Valley Busines3 I (KY? 10071
Ltmi:ed Park. Solihull. England. BOO SAU

Twigden I-Limes Dor:tiant Tungsten Building. Bkthe Valle Bu<ine’s 10071 l(YY?
Southern Limited Park. Solihull. Engf and. BOO SAU

Hopkins Homes Group Intermediate Melion Park House. Melton, Woodhrtdge. 1007 00%
Limited Holding Compan Sullolk. L1nited Kingdom. IP 12 I TJ

Hopktns Homes Intermediate Melton Park Hotise. Melton. Woodhrilge. l00’/? 10Cc?
Holdings Limited Holding Company Suffolk. United Kingdom. lP12 IT)

Hopkins Homes Residential Melton Park House. Melton. Woodhridge. 10071 I 00%-
Limited househuilding Suffolk. United Kingdom. IPI 2 ITJ

Hopkins Homes Lease Non—trading Melton Park Horise. Melton. Woodhrtdue. I OO’/r I (JOc?
Company limited Suffolk. United Kingdom. IPI 2 IT)

* indicates direct insestnient of the Coiitpanv
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16 Investment in joint ventures

Investment in JVs

At I July 2022

Share cii pcist—tas prolit ci joint entures

Dividends received

Loan repa menis

Unrealised proti ton sale (ii arid

Fair value adjustments

At 31 i\larch 2023

Carrying amount

At 3 March 2023

At 30 June 2022

£ 000

Non-current assets

Current assets

Non—current liabilities

Current liahili:ies

Net asseis a’ at 31 March 2023

t95.709

106909

The Groups share ci current asseb and liabilities in respect oi ioint ‘entures conitprises trade debtors arid creditors
ansine in ihe norrtial course ci business and tangible stocks oF land and ork—in-proress on each developtiient.
The Groups share ol non—current assets and liabilities in respect ci ioint ‘entures comprises Icing term loans due
iii third parties and oint entrtre partners.

The Groups share oi income and expenses For be period ciFlotntl\ controlled enirtics is as kcllosvs:

Re’ ernie 113.531

Expenses (106,764)

Share isi prolit For the period
— 6.770

112.492

7.562

(6.720)

(H)25)

(2.60S)

(792(

06.909

The Group’s share oF assets and liabilities of jointl controlled entities is as Fo1los:

1(16,909

112,492

202.6 I 8
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16 Investments in joint ventures (continued)

Proportion of
ownership

Name of joint venture Principal activity Registered office interest

2023 2022
Black Rock Devco LLP Residential development Tungsten Building. Blythe Valley Business 5071 50%

Park. Solihull. England. 890 8AU

Black Rock E-Ioldco I Investment holding One St Peters Square. Manchester. 50% 501
LLP Company England. M2 3DE

Black Rock Holdco 2 Investment holding One St Peters Square. Manchester. 507 50%
LLP Company England. M2 3Db

Driffield Devco LLP Residential Development Tungsten Building. Blythe Valley Business 501/c SOC/i

Park. Solihull. England. 890 8AU

Dri ffield Holdco I LLP Investment holding One St Peters Square. Manchester. 5O7c 507c
Company England. M2 3DE

Driflield Holdco 2 LLP Investment holding One St Peters Square. Manchester. 501/ 50%
Company England. M 2 3 DL

Easingvold Devco LLP Residential Dc’ elopnient Tungsten I3u i Iding. Blythe Valley Business 50% 50%
Park. Soliliull. England. B90 RAU

Easingvold Holdco I Investment holding ( )ne Si Peters Square. Manchester. 50’/c 50%
LLP Company England M 2 31)1

Easi ngwold Holdco 2 Investment holding ( )ne Si Peters Square. Manchester. 507 507
LLP Company I ng land. M 2 3Db

Tilia Cross Keys Dcv Residential development Tungsten Building. I3lythe Valley t3usiness 907c 90’/c
LLP Park. Solihull. England. B90 XAU

Tilia Cross Keys Investment holding One St Peters Square. Manchester. 90% 9071
Holdco I LLP Company England. M2 3Db

Tilia Cross Keys Investment holding One St Peters Square. Manchester. 907 90%
Holdco 2 LLP Company England. M2 3Db

Tilia Community Residential Development Tungsten Building. Blythe Valley Business 69% 6971
Living LLP Park. Solihull. England. B90 KAU

Tilia Community Investment holding One St Peters Square. Manchester. 69’/c 691/c
Living Holdco I LLP Company England. M2 3DE

Cilia Community Investment holding One St Peters Square. Manchester. 6Y1/c 69/c
Living Holdco 2 LLP Company England. M2 3DE

Tilia Community Investment holding One St Peters Square. Manchester. 69% 69%
Living Topco I LLP Company England. M2 3DE

Til ma Commuti ity In vestment holding One St Peters Square, Manchester. 69% 69%
Living Topco 2 LLP Com pans England. M 2 3DB

TCK Peterhorough Residential Development Tungsten Building. Blythe Val Icy Business 907c 90/c
Dc vco LL P Park .Sol i hull. England. B 90 SA U

TCK Peterhorough Investment holding One St Peters Square. Manchester. 90% 90%
I-Ioldco I LLP Company England. M2 3 DE

TCK Peterhorough Investment holding One St Peters Square. Manchester. 90% 90%
H oldco 21 A - P Company England. M2 3 DE
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16 Investments in joint ventures (continued)

Proportion of
ownership

Name of joint venture Principal activity Registered office interest

2023 2022
Tilia Sovereign LLP Residential Development Tungsten Building. Blythe Valley Business 50% 50’%

Park. Solihull. England. BOO 8AU

Notaro Kier LLP Residential Dcx elopnwnt 8 I Fountain Street. Manchester, 50’X 50%
England. M2 2EE

Stokesley Devco LLP Residential Dexelopmcnt Tungsten Building. Blythe Valley Business 50’A 50%
Park. Sol i hull England. BOO 8A U

Stokesley Holdco I Investment holding One St Peters Square. Manchester. 50% 507
LLP Company England. M2 3DE

Stokesley l—loldco 2 Investment holduig One St Peters Square. Manchester. 50% 50%
LLP Company England. M2 3DE

Tilia Cross Keys Dcv LLP

The Company indirectly holds 90% beneficial interest and 50%- voting rights in Tilia Cross Keys Dcv LLP which

is incorporated in the United Kingdom with the principal activity of residential development. The total carrying
value of investment is £56.707k (2022: £58,910k). Trading profit in the period was £5.952k (2022: £9,956k). In

April 2023 Ti ha Homes Developments I I .imited. a wholly owned subsidiary of Tilia Homes Limited, acquired

CKH Developments Limited s 10 (3 share in Tilia Cross Keys Holdco I LLP for a purchase price of £7.000k and

from that point became a wholly owned suhsidtary.

Tilia Community Living ElY

The Group indirectly holds 69% ownership in Til ia Community Living I .LP which is incorporated in the United
Kingdom with the principal activity of residential development. Total carrying amount of investment is £42,824k
(2022: £4l.038k). There were trading profits in the period of £2.483k (2022: £5.935k).

17 Inventories

2023 2022
£ 000 £ 000

Work in pmgress 428,830

_______

in progress is carried in accordance with the valuation methodology as outlined in note 2 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The cost of inventories expensed in the period and included within cost of sales was £ 174.831k (2022: £157.1 32k).

The directors consider all in ventories to he essentially current in nature although the Group s operational cycle is
stich that a proportion of inventories will not he realised xvithin I 2 months. It is not possible to accurately
determine when specific inventory will he realised as this is subject to several issues including consumer demand
and planning permission.

Incltided within inventories are £383k (2022: £23 1k) of part exchange properties.
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IX Trade and other receivables

2022
Current £ 000
Trade receivables 6.120
Amounts due From related parties 15.091
Prepavinents 3.585
Contract assets 4,990
Other receivahies
lotal current trade and other ccci’ ables

Non-current
Total non—current trade and other receivables

Balances for related parties include normal railing balances which will he settled in accordance with normal
business trading.

The Group’s exposure to credit and market risks. includmne maturity analysis. relating to trade and other
receivables is disclosed in the financial risk nianagemileiti note (note 26).

19 Cash and cash equivalents

Current 2022
£ 000

Trade payahles 39.688
Land development payahles 22.98C
Accrued expenses 33.819
Amounts drie to related parties 23)91
Con ti-act I iah lilies I 254
Social security and tither taxes 2.765
Other

paahles

________________________________________

Total current trade and tither pavables

2023
£ 000

5.232

25.709

6.024

490

2.369 11.934
39.824 41.720

2023 2022
£ 000 £ 000

4.674 4.129

Cash on hand

20 Trade and other payables

2023

£ 001)

42.7(16

2022

£ 000

32.097

2023
£ 000

38 .7 62

44,759

17.992

2.497

911)

2.011

285 171

lt)7.216 102.765
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Balances br rclaied parties include £17k (2022: £256k ) normal trading balances with joint ventures which wi
he settled in aeei ‘rdance with normal business trading and £2 .450k (2022: £2.1) I 2k) advisory lees due to a
related parts Terra Firma Investments Lim led.

The table below analyses the Groups linaneial liabilities into the relevant maturity groupings based oii the
remaining years at the balance sheet date to the contractual nutturiy date. The amounts disclosed in the table are
the contraettial rnidiscotmted cash flows, Contract liabilities and statutory liabilities are excluded from trade and
other payahlcs as these are not financial instruments.

Trade and other
payables

Less than one \ ear

More than one year and less than two years

More than t i ‘.ears and less than IRe

Moi’e than five years

68.835 76.63t) 145.465

‘Irade and other Land
payables development 30 June 2022

pay ables
£ 0(10 £ 000 £ 000

78.628 24.751) 103.378

3.246 7.215 I t).46 I

1.974 19.877 21.851

- 4.116 4,1 l

83.848 55,958 I 39.806

Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31 March 2023 (continued)

20 Trade and other payahles (continued)

2023 2022
Non-current £ 000 £ 000
Trade pavables 7.880 7.902

Land ic’ el ipmeni pa’s ables 29.077 30.776

Other pa’. ahles 1.419 -

Amounts dtie to relLtted parties
— 177

Contract liabilities —

Social security and other taxes
— 10

Total non-etirrent trade and other payahles 38,376 39.532

Land
development

payahles
£ 000 £ 000

31 March2023

£ (100

Less ihan one \ear 62,072 47.5 it) 11)9.582
i’slore than one ‘ear and less than tue ‘ears 2.839 11.075 13.914

More than mo years anti less than live 3.048 l7.—56 20.5I)
More than iRe \ears 876 589 .465
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21 Loans and borrowings

Loan [tool elated party

External RCE

Total loans a id borrowings

[his reated party loan is repa\ahle on denianhl. however the (iroup and Company ha’ e reeeied ritten
confirmation lioni Foster Lu esrments Linited that he loan \ ill not he recalled oral least 12 mlinihs r m the
date sf appros al of the ilnancial statements. The interest rate is sc The Group also holds an external RCI-. u oh
t66.000k dra’n at 31 March 2023. which expires in February 2028 ith interest rate of SONIA plus 2.5-3.OcL

22 Lease liabilities

Ike lease liability is presented as follows:

2023 2022
£ 000 £ 004)

Ctirrent 699

N in—curretir 994

Total lease liabilities

Lease liabilities maturity analysis
Future mini mum lease payments as at 3 I March 2023 are as luih

Less t han (Inc ear

tine to t 0 eats

Two to three years

Three to four years

Four to live yeats

Ft e ye irs an LI above

Total gross payments

Impact ni ti nanee expenses

Carryine ainortnt of liability

Total cash outflows related to leases for the period

Principal elements of lease payiiwnts

Interest

Total cash orttllow

1.693 2202

2(123 2022
£ 000 £ 000

788 I .066

598 71:

335 -465

105 l$

16 14

6 9

1.8-18 2.454

t155) (252)

1.693 2.202

2023 2022
£ 000 £ 000

883 84C

132 135

1.015 975

2023
£ 000

2022
£ 000

500.716 445.338

66.000 38.000

566.716 483.338

942

1.260
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23 Provisions

Onerous
fixed build

contracts Closed sites Maintenance
U 000 £‘OOO £‘OOO

9.335 8.300

1.392 11.696

Total
provisions

£000

Tn 2021 the group estahlished a provision br the cost of onerous fixed build contracts on a small number of
developments. this was increased in 2022 and again in 2023 to account for the latest estnnate of costs to
complete.

The closed sites provision consists of costs to complete on closed sites and the maintenance provision covets
after care in completed homes. The closed site provision includes costs to rectify fire safety defects identi lied
on a limited number of historic buildings. In preparing the financial statements. currently available intortitation

has been considered, including the current best estimate of the extent and future costs of work required. based
on the cs icws and physical inspections undertaken

Where an obligation has heen established and a reliable estimate of the costs to rectify is available, a provision
has heen made. No provision has been made where art obligation has not heen established.

These estimates nay be updated as further inspections ate completed and as s irk progrcscs or if Sos ci nniemlt
legislation wiLl regulation lurther esolses.

There is inherent uncertaint\ in assessing the values and t::ing of these provisions. The’ are revtessetl
regularly throughout the year by management.

Within the closed sites’Charged to the income statement in the \car’ off 18.734k in total. £5.539k has been
treated as an exceptional item for the reasons described in note It

24 Contract Balances

In relation to contracts In proeress at the balance sheet date:

2023 2022
£ 000 £ 000

Net customer contract position (138) .069

Total U38 069

Revenue recognised tur the period on open contracts amounts it) £5.986k (2022: £ 12.968k). During the periisd
costs of £5,316k (21)22: £ I I . I 70k) have been recognised within costs of’ sales in respect of contract assets.

At the heinning of the period

Charged ii the i neonle statement in the period

L’til ised in the period

At the end nb the period

Analysis of tolal provisions:

Due within one ear

Due after one year

Total

2.631 20.266

2.646 18.734

(2,055) 3,935) t2.215) (8.205)

8.672 19.061 3.062 30.795

2023 2022
£ 000 £ 000

23.553 14.674

7.242 5.592

30.795 21)266
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25 Called up share capital

Allotted, called up and fully paid shares

2023 2022

No. £ 000 No. £ 000
Ordinary shares off I each 30.247.775 30.248 30.247.775 30.248

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to ‘and are entitled to
one vote per share at meetings of the Company.

26 Financial instruments

Capital risk management

The Groups ohjeetive when managing capital is to safeguard the Groups ability to eontintie as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and henelits for other stakeholders by ensuring that the Group
maintains sufficient liquidity to sustain its present and future operations.

The Group monitors current and forecast cash liquidity to enstire that there is sufficient capacity to meet
requirements for the faresecahie future. This includes ihe external RCF of £ôô,Om. the loan from a related party
f500.7m and cash reserves f42.7m.

Financial risks and management

The Groups principal Onancial instrtiments comprised a term loan with Foster Investments Limited (a related
party). development land payahles and an external RCF, The main purpose of these financial instruments is to
raise finance for the Groups operations. The Group has other financial instruments including trade receivables
and trade payahles. which arise directly from operations.

No trading in financial instruments has been undertaken.

The Group has exposure to a variety of financial risks through the condtiet of its operations. The Board reviews
and agrees policies for managing risk as well as specific policies and guidelines.

The key financial risks restilting From the Grotips tise of financial instruments are credit risk. liqtudity risk and
market risk.

The principal operational risks of the business are detailed on pages 7 to 8.

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Grotip if a customer fails to meet its contraettial obligations tnaitiiy
arising on the Groups trade receivables. The Grotips exposure to credit risk is limited for open iiuarket
housebtii Iding activities as the Group typically receives cash at the point of legal completion of its sales.

The credit risk on registered provider sales depends on the individual characteristics of the counterptuty many ol
whom are in the public sector or are funded by the public sector such as housing associations. The Board consider
that the credit rating of these customers is good and the credit risk on outstanding balances to he low and no
provision is held against these balances.
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26 Financial instruments (continued)

The Group does not have an concenaation Ot risk in respect of amounts due out trade receivanle

balances, with amounts due spread across a \ ide range o customers.

The ageing of trade receR ahies (see note IS) is as lblltsws:

2023 2022
£000 £000

Not past due 3.292 4.786
Past due Ito 30 days 975 739
Past due 3 I to 60 days 27

—

Past due 61 to 90 days I 33
Past due 91 to 365 days 174 1.036
Past due greater than one year 4. 134 ?.568

Total
-— 8.603

— 10.162

The Group holds a provision for impairment of trade receivables oi £ 122k 2022: £ 122k). Balances past

due creater then one scar relate to chent retention which is within course of normal business and not a

credit risk.

(b) Liquidity risk

Liquidity isk is the risk that the Group ss ill not he able to meet its financial ohlig[tflons as and when they fall due.

The Group’s ohjectise is to m:magc liquidity by ensuring that it will always hase sullicieni liquidity to nieet its
liabilities as they become due. This will he assessed under normal and stress conditions, without incurring losses
or risking damage to the Groups reputation.

The Group has rigorous cash management processes, Cash balances are reported daily and variances to short term
cash forecasts are analysed as appropriate. Every week the Group prepares a daily rolling cashflow forecast with
a forecast period of 20 weeks. These forecasts complement the monthly cash forecasts each year which are
compared to the annual cash flow budget and to previoris monthly forecasts.. These facilitate managements

assessments of the Group’s e spected cash perk irniance

Key risks to liquidity and cash balances ale a decrease in the alue ol open market sales, a downturn tn the U K
hi:usng market. deterioration in credit terms ohainahle in lie ni:u’ket Irom sappliers and subcontractors, a
doss nrurn in the proti tabi I tv of stork. delayed recci pt of cash i rom cusrt mers and a general decline in the abi lit>
of local authorities to lund urban regeneration prolects.

In order to mitigate this risk, the Group continuall> monitors open market horise saleS soltuites and prices: uorking
capital levels and contract protitabilit’ and both client and supplier credit references and credtt terms stith clients
and suppliers to ensarc the continue to he appropriate.

The Group does not has e any derivative financial liabilities.
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26 Financial instruments (continued)

fe) Market risk

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as i ntei’est rates, house prices and foreign exchange rates
will afl’ect the Group income Or the value of the Crc ups financial instruments.

I,itere.ci into tick

frterest rate risk elates to the impact of interest rate iicreases on the Group’s horrins inc. The interest rate on ihe
loan due to related partx Foster Investments Limited is at 8 based on the loan agreenient sshmch is in place until
May 2026. The interest ate on the hank RCF is at S( )NIA plus 2.5-3.uc , The Group has no other interest-hearing
financial instruments.

Hot, sing marker risk

‘flw Group is fundamentall’ affected by the les el of UK house prices. These in turn are at lected by factor5 such
as credit availahilit, emploment levels, interest rates,.c1nst11er conhdcncc and stippl’ of land with planning.

Furthermore. Goserniiient incentives. srich as the ‘‘Help to Bu ‘ scheme, have helped to stimulate consumer
demand. Whilst these risks are beyond the Grorip’s ultimate control, risk is spread across dilfering business
activities undet’taken h\ the Group and the geucraphical regions iii which it operates.

The UK housing market aft’ects the valuation of the Group’s non—financial assets and liabilities and the eri::cal

tudgements applied b management ni these tinancial statements. iticluditig lie valuation of land anut work—in—
progt’ess. Thk has been discussed further on page 3.

Ct ill Oil cv risk

The Group operates entirel’ in the United Kingdotit. All of the Group’s rcscnac is generated in the Ltniwd

Kingdom and is ulettt,m:naed in porinds sterling. Consequenil’ . the Group has very limited exposure to

C nrre nc risk.

Fair values of financial instruments

The Grotip’s hnancitil assets and liabilities that are measured stihseujuent to initial recognition at lair salue,

crouped into Levels I to 3 based on the degree to which the ‘air salne is observable:

Lesel I — lair value measni’ements are those derived from quoted prices (tinad jtistctl I in aL’ti\ e markets foi’ idenneal
assets:

Les el 2 — fair value measurements are those derived l’rom inputs other than qtioted prices ineltirled sv tthin Level I
thai are observable br the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived l’rom prices):
and

Les el 3 — fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that t nelude inputs for the asset or
liability that ate not based on observable market data (unobservable inptits).

The fair value of the Group’s l’inancial assets and financial liabilities are equal to their carrying value.
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26 Financial instruments (continued)

T,oc!e and othe, ,cceiunh/es

The fair value of trade and other receivables is esti uated as the present value of Future cash lows, discounted at
the market ate of interest at the balance sheet date if the effect is material. The carrying amount ol trade and other
rccel\ ables is a rea’onahle approximation of their lair due.

Trade (hid ahliei’ pavab/es

l’he lair value of de’elopment land pavahles is esttmated as the present alue ol liutiie cash ilouc. discounted at
the market ate of interest at the balance sheet date if the ef led is material. The earr\inu amount of trade and other
pa ables and contract liabilities are a reasonable approximation of their fair’ Liltie

Cash mu! i-ac/i Cc/Ui ‘alettt.s

The for value of’ cash and cash equivalents is estimated at its carry mu ainotint wlicic the easli is repa\ able on
den a nil.

Rot Cr’’’?? IC fOCI/tries

At 31 March 2023. the Group had committed borrowing facilities totalling 421.6 1k ep resenting the oan due
to a elated parts Foster In estments Limited.

The Group also holds an external bank RCP. with £66.(XJOk drawn at 31 \l,oeh 2021. which expires in Fehruarv
2(128 tb interest ate of SONIA plus 2.5—3.
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31 March 2023 (continued)

27 Dividends

The directors do not recommend a payment of a dividend In respect of the period ended 3 I March 2023.

28 Related party transactions

The Group operates through several joint ventures which the directors regard as related parties. During the
period, the Group has traded with these related parties and a summary of these transactions is below:

Management Fees
£ 000

Easingwold Deveo LLP 197

Stokesley Devco I.T,P 157

Tilia Cross Keys Dcv LLP 2.703

Tilia Community Living LLP 2.845

Total 5902

The outstanding balances between the Group and joint venture related parties as at 31 March 2023 are detailed
below:

Black Rock Deveo LLP -

Driffield Devco LLP 439

Easingwold Deveo LLP 732

Notaro Kier LLP 106

Tilia Sovereign LLP 121

Stokesley Deveo LLP 3.309

Tilia Cross Ke)s Dc’ LLP 6.706

Tilia Community Living LLP 15.032

Total

Current

No n—c uric n I

Total

Trade and Other
Receivables

£ 000

Trade and Other
Payables

£ 000

4€

26.445 4€

25.424 4€

1.021 -

26.445 4€
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Notes to the Financial Statements for the period ended 31 March 2023 (continued)

28 Related party transactions (contñiued)

Guy Hands, the ultimate controlling party of the Group. is a director and sole shareholder of Terra Firma
Investments [muted. During the period ended 3 I March 2023. the Group incurred advisory fees of £3.597k
(2022: £8 19k) from Terra Firma Investments Limited. An amount of £2,436k (2022: £300k payable) was due to
the Group from Terra Firma Investments Limited at 3 I March 2023. The Group also received a £57 1k
management fee credit from Terra Firma Investments Limited. This :uuount was not outsemding at 31 March
2023.

During the period ended 3 I March 2023, the Group received additional loan funding of £28.5 84k from a related
party Foster Investments Limited. Both the total loan amount of £153.445k and accrued interest of £47.27 1k
\vere also outstanding at 3 I March 2023. The loan is repayable on demand. however the Group and Company
have received written confirmation from Foster Investments Limited that the loan will not he recalled flit at least
12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements. The interest rate is 8%.

During the period ended 3 I March 2023. the Group was charged expenses from Terra Firma Holdings Limited
of £ 5k, £9k was outstanding at 31 March 2023.

29 Parent of group in whose consolidated financial statements the Company is consolidated

The Company is a subsidiary undertaking of Foster Topeo Lnnited. a company registered in Guernsey.

The Directors consider the ultimate parent tindertaking to he Seaside Holdings (Nominee) Limited. a Guernsey
incorporated investment vehicle. The Directors consider the ultimate controlling party to he Guy Hands. Tilia
Group Holdings Limited (Ground Floor. Cambridge House. Le Truchot. St Peter Port. Guernsey. GY I I MID)
was the largest and smallest Group of which the Company was a member, and for which consolidated financial
statements are prepared.

30 Post balance sheet event

(a) Sliareholder/unding

On 25 May 2023. Foster Investments Limited ads anced £6.900k to Tilia Group Holdings Limited.

(b) Joint pen tore acquisition within Tilia Homes

In April 2023 Tilia Homes Developments I Limited. a newly incorporated and wholly owned subsidiary of Tilia
Homes Limited. acquired CKH Developments Limited’s I 07( share in Tilia Cross Keys Holdeo I LLP for a
purchase price of £7,000k. This is a non-adjusting event and consequently there have been no changes made to
the Group’s financial statements.
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Non-current assets

(Registration number: 68989)

Company Statement of Financial Position as at 31 March 2023

I nvestme in in suhsidiarie s

Current assets

Trade and other receivables

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

5 30.248

6 500.638
7

530,888

30.248

445

4

475,538

Current liabilities

Trade and other payablcs

Loan and ho IN) wings

Total liabilities

Net assets

Equity

Called up share capital

Retained earn ngs

Total equity

7 (134)

8 (500.716)

9

(25

(445.338:

(500,850) (445,363)

30,038 30,175

30.248 30.248

(2(0) (73:

30,038 30,175

The Company has elected Ic lake the exemption under section 244 of die Companies (Guernsey) Law. 2008 not
to present die parent company profit and loss account.

The inancial statements on pages 55 to 61 were approved hy the Board and authorised (or issue on 28
September 2023

A&dt4

A VS Gibbs
Director
Ti I ia Group Hold n gs Li mi ted
Company number: 68989

Theac companyi ng noles form an integral part of these financial statements,

Company Company
Note 31 March 2023 30 June 2022

£ 000 £ 000
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Company Stalement of Changes in Equity for the period

At 1 July 2021

Loss for the year and toral
comprehensive expel Sc

At 30 Tune 2022

ended 31 March 2023

Share capital
£ 000

30,248

Retained
earnings

£ 000

(25)

(48)

(73)

Total
£ 000

30,223

(48)

30,175

At I July 2022

I oss or the period and total
comprehensive expense

At 31 March 2023

30,248

Retained
Share capital earnings Total

£ (IOU £ 000 £ 000

30,248 (73) 30,175

- (137) (137)

30,248 (210) 30,038
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited
Notes to the Company Financial Statements for the period ended 31 N-larch 2023

1 General information

Til a Group Holdings Limited ( the Company’) is-1n investntent holding company or a Group vii companies
principally engaged in residential house building.

The Coni pans is a private company which is incorporated in Guernsey and domiciled in the UK. The address of
the registered office is:

Ground Floor

Cambridge House

Le Trtichot
St Peter Port
Guernsey
CVI IWD

The registered number is 689X9.

2 Accounting policies

Summary of significant accounting policies and key accounting estimates

The principal accounting policies apHicd in the preparation of these financial statctiients are set out below.
These policies have been consistently applied to al the years presented. unless otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation

‘[he parent company financial statements of Ttlta Group Holdings Limited “-ct-c prepared in accordance with
Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced Disclosure Framenork t’’FRS 101

In preparing these financial satemcnts, the Compan> applies the recognition. incasaretrient and disclosure
reqrircntents of International Financial Reportinc Standards tIFRS5t and IERS [nierpretations Committee
I [FRICt interpretations as adopted h’ the European Union I ELi and has set out helms “here advantage otthc
ERS 101 disclosure exemptions has been taken.

The hnanctal statements ha’ c been prepared t:ndcr the histot teal cost convcntion

In these tirtancial statenlcnN. the Ctinipan’. has applied the cxctnptions available tinder FRS 101 in respect ot
the following disclosures:

• Cash 0 ow statement and related notes -

• Comparattve year reconciltations for share capital
• Disclosures tn respect of transactions wtth s hol I) on ned substdtarrcs
• Dtsclosures in respect of capital managemaent
• The effects of new hut not yet effective IFRS
• Dtsc losures in respect of the compensation of key- management person nd and
• Dtsc Iosurcs of transactions with a management entity that provides key management person nd sers- tees

to the Cotipany.

As the consolidated financial statements of Tilia Group Holdings Limited i nd ule bc eqitt valent disclosures, the
Company has also taken the exemptions under FRS 101 available in respect of the followtng disclosures:

• Certain disclosures reqtnred by IFRS 13 Fair Va/oc Measeon,mnit and the disclosures required by IFRS
7 Fit loll cia/li vt ii tot cit I Disc lost i rex.

The Company proposes to continue to adopt the reduced disclosure framework of FRS 11)1 in the next financial
statements.
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited
Notes to the Company Financial Statements for the period ended 31 March 2023

(continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued)

‘he preparation ol the itnancial statements in conttrnhlty with IFRS requires the use or certain critical
accounting estinate It also requnes management to exetcRe its judgenient in the process ol applying the
Group’s accounting policies. The areas in’oh inc higher degree of jtidgment or complexity. or areas where
assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 3 to the consolidated
Group financial statements.

Going concern

‘The directors adopt the going concern basis in preparing the Cotipany ‘s financial statements.

The Conipany had net assets as at 31 March 2023 ofE3O.Om. Funding to the Company is provided in the form of
a loan from a related party. Foster Investments Littiited, The principal amount ol loan outstanding at 31 March
2023 was £453 .4tn The loan is repayable on demand, however the Company has received written eon firmation
from Poster Investments Limited that the loan ‘sill not be recalled for at least 12 mouths from the date of appro aI
of the linancial stateirients. The interest rate on the loan is

The Board has review ed the hustness’, cash flow forecasts lot the period to 3t) September 2024. based on certain
key aNsumpi ions s’ Inch include the price and ol utne of completed house sales over that period and changes in
suppl er purchases- The modeL ha e a base scenario and a prudent downside secuiario The Board has considered
the Group s goine concern h reviewing thectsh low forecasts of both Tilia and Hopkins. being the two nlai n

trading businesses ui the Group. which are modelled separately. Under both. he Gtoup still maintains adequate
liquidity without the need br additional fundmng As a result the Directors ate satished that the Group and
Company will he able to continrte to he able to pay its liahdities as the’ lall due lor a period ot’at least 12 mottths
loin the date it signing these linanctal statetticnts and tltere!ore the Board has prepared the accounts on a goitig

em mneern basis.

Investments in subsidiary ttnderlakings

Investment in stibsithiaries and associated tindertakings are held at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The
cost of investment in subsidiary undertakings is recorded as cash paid plus any further costs connected with the
acqrtisirion. An impairment is recognised when the carrying value of an investment exceeds in recoverable
amount.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are amorints due to the business from contractual agreements with customers,
suppliers and oUter Group companies. If collection is espeeted in one year or less, they are classified as currettt
assets. If not. they ate piesented as non—eurretit assets.

Trade and other mccci’ ables are recogtiised initial]’ at lair value and subsequently measured at amorttsed cost
using the eiTectisc inte rest method, less pros ision for impairment.

‘Trade and other pavables

Trade and other p<tyables tt’e obligations to pa’ br goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinar
course of bust ties’ I iom suppliers.

Trade and other pavables are recognised in:tially at lair value and subsequemiti’ measured at amortised eot
using the effectise interest method.
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Notes to the Company Financial Statements for the period ended 31 March 2023
(continued)

2 Accounting policies (continued)

Borrowings

All borrowings are initially recorded at the amount of proceeds receis ed. net of transaction costs. Borrowings
are subsequently carried at amortised cost. with the difference between the proceeds net of transaction costs.
and the amount due on redemption being recognised as a charge to the income statement over the period of the
relevant borrowing.

Interest expense is recognised on the basis of the effeeti’ e interest method and is included in finance costs.

Borrowingsar e classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement
of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting date

Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in profit or loss, except that
a chmge attributable to an item of income or expense recognised as other comprehensive income is also
recognised directly in other comprehensive income.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of tax rates and laws that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the reporting date in the cotintries where the Group operates and generates taxable
income.

Deferred income (ax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying miounts in the financial statements and on tinused tax losses or tax credits iii the
Group. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the reporting date.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and a valuation allowance is set
rip against defetred tax assets so that the net carrying amount equals the highest amotint that is more likely than
not to he recovered based on cttrrent or future taxable prol’it.

Dividends

Dividend distrihtttion to the Company’s shareholders is recognised asa liability in the Company’s financial
statements in the year in which the di\ idends are approved by the Company’s shareholder.

3 Profit attril)ntal)Ie to the parent of Tilia Group Holdings Limited

The Compmy has elected to take the exemption under section 214 of the Companies (Guernsey) Law, 2008 not
to present the parent company prol’it and loss ac count.

4 Dividends

No dividends were paid in the period to 3 I Much 2023. The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final
dividend in respect of the period ended 3 I March 2023.
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Tilia Group Holdings Liniited

5 liivestinent in subsidiaries

A’ at balance sheet date

31 March 2023
£ 000

30.248

30 June 2022
£ 000

30.24 N

Company Principal activity
Proportion of ordinan shares held by the
Company

31 March 2023

Tilia Bidco Limited Investment Corn pa nv 100%

6 Trade and other receivables

Amount owed by stibsidiary undertaking in less than one year

lotal

31 March 2023 30 June 2022
£ 000 £ 000

t453.395k (2022: £424.8 Ilk) is a loan made to Tilia Ilidco [united This loan hears interest at 8% per annum.
[he loan is unsecured and is repayable on demand. £47. 243k (2022: £20,475k ) is inlerest due Ii in Ti ha B ideo
[,iniited on the aloreoteotioned loan.

7 Trade and other payables

Notes to the Company Financial Statements for the period ended 31 March 2023
(continued

Cost and net hook value

50t).638 445.286

5(8)638 445.286

Amount due to related parties

AccrLcd expenses

Total

31 March 2023
£ 000

45

30 June 2022
£ 000

89 25

134 25
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Tilia Group Holdings Limited

Notes to the Company Financial Statements for the period ended 31 March 2023
(continued)

S Loan and borrowings

31 March 2023 30 June 2022
£ 000 £ 000

Loan from related pari 500.716 445.338

This loan is repayable on demand, however tile Group and Company have received written confirmation from
Poster Investments Li mired that the loan will not he recalled for at least I 2 months from the dare of approval of
the financial statements. The interest rate is 8X

9 Called up share capital

Allotted, called up and hilly paid

31 March 2023 30 June 2022
£ 001) £ 000

30.247.775 (202230.2-17.775) ordinan El shares 30.248 30.248

The holders ofordniar shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from tinie to time and are entitled to
one ‘ore per share at meenngs of the Company.

10 Related party transactions

The Company is the ultimate parent undertaking of its Group in the United Kingdoni and has prepared
consolidated financial Iaienenis for the period ended 31 March 2023 and therefore the Company has relief on
the exemptions contained within Financial Reporting Standard 101 ni respect of the disclosure ol’related party
ian s actions.

There are no other related party transactions that require disclosure in these financial statements.

11 Subsidiaries and associates

A full list of Tilia Group Htildmgs Limited’s suhsidiar and associated undertakings is disclosed in note 15 to
the consolidated Group linaneial statements.

12 Ultimate parent undertaking

The Directors consider the ultimate parent undertaking to he Seaside Holdings tNominee Limited, a Guernsey
ineorpor:ed ni’ estinen: chicle. The Directors consider the ultimate-controlling parts to he Guy Hands. TWa
Group Holdings Li in ited i Ground Floor. Cambridge House. Le Truehot. St Peter Pi irt. Guernsey. GY I I \VD
Was the largest and smallest Group of which the Company a a memher. and for winch consolidated financial
statements are prepared. Ct’p:es of the financial statements of Tilia Group Holdings Limited are a\ ailahle ‘. ia the

e5ite ‘.v.v “ti I ahoines co. uk

61




